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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
In re 
 
WOODBRIDGE GROUP OF 
COMPANIES, LLC, et al.,1  

   Remaining Debtors. 

 Chapter 11 
 
Case No. 17-12560 (BLS) 
 
(Jointly Administered) 
 
Objection Deadline: October 14, 2019 at 4:00 p.m. (ET) 
Hearing Date: October 23, 2019 at 9:30 a.m. (ET) 
 

LIQUIDATION TRUST’S MOTION FOR AN ORDER PURSUANT TO BANKRUPTCY 
RULE 2004 DIRECTING PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS AND MATERIALS  

AND APPEARANCE FOR ORAL EXAMINATION 
 

The Woodbridge Liquidation Trust (the “Liquidation Trust”), formed pursuant to 

the confirmed and effective First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation of Woodbridge 

Group of Companies, LLC and its Affiliated Debtors [Docket No. 2397] (the “Plan”) in the 

jointly-administered chapter 11 bankruptcy cases (the “Chapter 11 Cases”) of Woodbridge 

Group of Companies, LLC and its affiliated debtors and debtors in possession (collectively, the 

“Debtors”), by and through its counsel, respectfully moves this Court, pursuant to Sections 105 

and 1103 of title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”), Rule 2004 of the 

Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure (the “Bankruptcy Rules”), and Rule 2004-1 of the Local 

Rules of Bankruptcy Practice and Procedure of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the 

District Court of Delaware (the “Local Rules”), for the entry of an order compelling Jeri Shapiro 

(“Mrs. Shapiro”) to (i) produce all non-privileged documents responsive to the requests set forth 

in Exhibit A attached hereto, and (ii) to appear for examination by the Liquidation Trust.  In 

support of this motion (the “Motion”), the Liquidation Trust respectfully states as follows: 

                                                 
1  The Remaining Debtors and the last four digits of their respective federal tax identification numbers are as follows: Woodbridge Group of 
Companies, LLC (3603) and Woodbridge Mortgage Investment Fund 1, LLC (0172).  The Remaining Debtors’ mailing address is 14140 Ventura 
Boulevard #302, Sherman Oaks, California 91423.   
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 PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. The Debtors were part of a group of affiliated entities (collectively, the 

“Woodbridge Entities”) formed by, and formerly controlled by, Robert Shapiro (“Shapiro”).  As 

previously alleged by the Debtors, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), and 

the United States Attorneys’ Office for the Southern District of Florida (the “Government”), and 

as found by this Court, Shapiro used the prepetition Debtors to perpetrate an elaborate Ponzi 

scheme by which he defrauded thousands of innocent investors for the purpose of enriching 

himself, his family, and other insiders.  See Docket No. 2903 ¶ NN. 

2. In April 2019, Shapiro and two others were indicted by a Grand Jury 

sitting in the Southern District of Florida and charged with a litany of crimes relating to the 

Ponzi scheme, including conspiracy, wire fraud, mail fraud, money laundering, and tax evasion. 

3. In August 2019, Shapiro entered into a Plea Agreement with the 

Government pursuant to which, among other things, (a) he agreed to plead guilty to conspiracy 

to commit mail fraud and wire fraud as well as tax evasion, (b) he agreed to forfeit “any 

property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to the offense 

of conviction” (including a bank accounts, specified jewelry and other assets), and (c) the 

Government agreed to enter into a non-prosecution agreement with Mrs. Shapiro. 

4. On the same day, Mrs. Shapiro entered into a Consent to Forfeiture with 

the Government pursuant to which, among other things, she (a) acknowledged that the 

Government maintained that it could prove that numerous and substantial transfers of cash and 

other assets were made from the Debtors’ accounts to accounts in Mrs. Shapiro’s name or held 

for her benefit, and that the Debtors’ assets were also used to purchase a wide variety of luxury 

goods for Mrs. Shapiro’s personal benefit, (b) consented to the forfeiture of certain assets 

Case 17-12560-BLS    Doc 3869    Filed 10/07/19    Page 2 of 10



176096.2 DOCS_DE:225204.6 94811/003 3

(including cash and accounts and jewelry, art, and automobiles), and (c) agreed not to assert an 

interest in the subject assets.  

5. While the Trustee of the Liquidation Trust (the “Trustee”) appreciates the 

Government’s efforts in identifying certain assets subject to forfeiture, the Trustee seeks to 

investigate Mrs. Shapiro’s (or any entity controlled by her or in which she has a legally 

cognizable interest) direct or indirect ownership or control of all assets derived from the Debtors’ 

estates.  In addition, the Trustee seeks information concerning (a) whether other family members 

(including Mrs. Shapiro’s children and mother) directly or indirectly received assets or other 

benefits from the Debtors prior to the Petition Date; and (b) the Trustee’s investigation of certain 

third parties. 

6. In compliance with Local Rule 2004-1(a), and as set forth in greater detail 

in the Declaration of Colin Robinson submitted herewith, the Trustee has made several attempts 

to confer with Mrs. Shapiro’s counsel, but telephone messages and e-mails have gone 

unreturned, thereby necessitating this Motion. 

7. For the reasons set forth herein, the Trustee respectfully requests that the 

Motion be granted. 

 JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 

and 1334.  This matter is a core proceeding under 28 U.S.C. § 157(b).  Venue of the Debtors’ 

Chapter 11 cases and this Motion is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1408 and 1409.  The 

statutory predicates for the relief sought herein are sections 105 and 1103 of the Bankruptcy 

Code, Bankruptcy Rule 2004, and Rule 2004-1 of the Local Rules.   
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 BACKGROUND 

9. On December 4, 2017, 279 of the Debtors commenced voluntary cases 

under chapter 11 of title 11 of the Bankruptcy Code.  Thereafter, on February 9, 2018, March 9, 

2018, March 23, 2018, and March 27, 2018, an additional 27 affiliated Debtors commenced 

voluntary cases under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code.  The Debtors’ Chapter 11 Cases are 

being jointly administered pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 1015(b) and Local Rule 1015-1. 

10. On December 14, 2017, the Office of the United States Trustee for the 

District of Delaware (the “U.S. Trustee”) appointed an official committee of unsecured creditors 

[Docket No. 79] (the “Committee”).  

11. Information about the Debtors’ operations, capital structure and the events 

leading up to the commencement of these Chapter 11 Cases is set forth in the Disclosure 

Statement for the First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation of Woodbridge Group of 

Companies, LLC and its Affiliated Debtors [Docket No. 2398]. 

12. The Effective Date under the Plan occurred on February 15, 2019.  On 

February 25, 2019, the Court entered the Final Decree Closing Certain Cases and Amending 

Caption of Remaining Cases [Docket No. 3440] which closed all of the Debtors’ cases other than 

those of debtors Woodbridge Group of Companies, LLC and Woodbridge Mortgage Investment 

Fund 1, LLC (the “Remaining Debtors”). 

13. The Trust was formed on the Effective Date of the Plan.  Pursuant to the 

Plan, all avoidance actions and causes of action held by the Debtors or their estates automatically 

vested in the Trust.  See Plan §§ 1.76, 1.78 & 5.4.3.  In addition, the Trust holds causes of action 

contributed by creditors who elected to contribute their “Contributed Claims” to the Trust 

pursuant to the Plan.  See id. 
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 RELEVANT FACTS 

14. From July 2012 through December 1, 2017, Shapiro used the Woodbridge 

Entities to conduct a massive Ponzi scheme raising more than $1.22 billion from over 10,000 

unsuspecting investors nationwide. 

15. Shapiro’s scheme involved outright deception of the investors under false 

pretenses.  The scheme is described in (a) the Motion by the U.S. Securities and Exchange 

Commission for Order Directing the Appointment of a Chapter 11 Trustee [Docket No. 157]; (b)

 the Disclosure Statement for the First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation of 

Woodbridge Group of Companies, LLC and Its Affiliated Debtors [Docket No. 2284 at 16-30]; 

and (c) the Indictment hand up by the Grand Jury in Case No. 19-20178 (S.D.Fla.) [Docket 

No. 3] (a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B). 

16. In its order confirming the Plan, this Court found that: 

NN. Conduct of a Ponzi Scheme.  The evidence demonstrates, and the 
Bankruptcy Court hereby finds, that (i) beginning no later than July 2012 
through December 1, 2017, Robert H. Shapiro used his web of more than 
275 limited liability companies, including the Debtors, to conduct a 
massive Ponzi scheme raising more than $1.22 billion from over 8.400 
unsuspecting investors nationwide; (ii) the Ponzi scheme involved the 
payment of purported returns to existing investors from funds contributed 
by new investors; and (iii) the Ponzi scheme was discovered no later than 
December 2017. 

Docket No. 2903 ¶ NN. 

17. The Trustee incorporates by reference the recitation of facts set forth in 

each of the foregoing documents as if set forth herein. 

18. On April 5, 2019, a Grand Jury sitting in the Southern District of Florida 

handed up an Indictment charging that from June 2012 through December 2017, Shapiro and two 

co-conspirators engaged in a wide-ranging conspiracy to defraud Woodbridge’s investors 

through the use of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises.  The 
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Defendants were charged with conspiracy to commit mail fraud and wire fraud; mail fraud; wire 

fraud; money laundering, and income tax evasion.  The Indictment also identified certain assets 

that would be subject to forfeiture upon conviction.  See generally Exhibit B. 

19. On August 7, 2019, Shapiro and the Government entered into a Plea 

Agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit C.  By its terms, Shapiro agreed to 

plead guilty to two counts -- conspiracy to commit mail fraud and wire fraud and income tax 

evasion – with a statutory maximum term of imprisonment of up to 25 years. 

20. Shapiro and the Government agreed to jointly recommend that the court 

make certain findings and conclusions as to the sentence to be imposed, including that (a) the 

actual loss to investors was between $250-550 million (although Shapiro reserved the right to 

contest this amount and assert that a lesser sentence should be imposed because the defendant’s 

gain was between $25-65 million); (b) the offense involved sophisticated means; (c) Shapiro was 

“an organizer or leader of a criminal activity that involved five or more participants or was 

otherwise extensive;” and (d) the Government could argue that “a victim of the offense was a 

vulnerable victim.”  Exhibit C ¶ 11. 

21.  Notably, in exchange for Shapiro’s compliance with his promises under 

the Plea Agreement, the Government agreed to enter into a “non-prosecution agreement” with 

Mrs. Shapiro.  Pursuant to that agreement, the Government agreed not to prosecute Mrs. Shapiro 

for criminal tax offenses or “for any other federal criminal fraud, money laundering, and tax 

offenses through the date of [the] plea agreement related to the Woodbridge Group of 

Companies” and other named entities.  Id. ¶ 25. 

22. Mrs. Shapiro entered into her Consent to Forfeiture on the same day that 

her husband entered into his Plea Agreement, a copy of which is annexed hereto as Exhibit D.   
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23. In her Consent to Forfeiture, Mrs. Shapiro acknowledged that the 

Government maintained that it could prove that (a) from 2012 through April 2018, Shapiro 

transferred over $9 million from the Debtors’ accounts to accounts in Mrs. Shapiro’s name or in 

the names of entities controlled by her; (b) such funds were used to, among other things, make 

purchases at Christie’s Auction and other art galleries, including works of art and jewelry; and 

(c) assets in approximately forty-six (46) separate accounts in which Mrs. Shapiro had an 

ownership interest or that she otherwise operated on behalf of her husband, for his use and 

benefit, were subject to forfeiture along with an extensive collection of luxury jewelry, wine and 

other assets.  Ex. D ¶¶ 2-4.   

 RELIEF REQUESTED 

24. The Liquidation Trust seeks entry of the Proposed Order annexed hereto 

as Exhibit E (the “Proposed Order”), which would compel Mrs. Shapiro (i) to produce 

documents and materials responsive to the requests set forth in Exhibit A, and (ii) to conduct an 

examination of Mrs. Shapiro. 

 BASIS FOR RELIEF  

25. The Liquidation Trust seeks the production of documents from Mrs. 

Shapiro, and an examination of Mrs. Shapiro, in order to determine whether Mrs. Shapiro (a) owns 

or possesses any assets derived from the Debtors’ estates; (b) has any information concerning 

assets owned or possessed by third parties (including family members) that were derived from the 

Debtors, and (c) has any information that could potentially be useful in the Trustee’s investigation 

of certain third parties.   

26. An examination pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 2004 “can be ordered ‘on 

motion of any party in interest.’”  In re Lifeco Inv. Group, Inc., 173 B.R. 478, 480 (Bankr. D. 

Del. 1994) (quoting Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2004(a)).  Rule 2004 further provides that the Court may 
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order the examination and the production of documentary evidence concerning any matter that 

relates “to the acts, conduct, or property or to the liabilities and financial condition of the debtor, 

or to any matter which may affect the administration of the debtor’s estate, or . . . any matter 

relevant to the case or the formulation of a plan.”  Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2004(b); see also Harrow v. 

Street (In re Fruehauf Trailer Corp.), 369 B.R. 817, 827-28 (Bankr. D. Del. 2007) (noting the 

“extensive document discovery” that occurred pursuant to a subpoena issued under Fed. R. 

Bankr. P. 2004).  To that end, “[t]hird parties having knowledge of the debtor’s affairs, as well as 

a debtor itself, are subject to examination.”  In re Valley Forge Plaza Assoc., 109 B.R. 669, 674 

(Bankr. E.D. Pa. 1990).  

27. The scope of a Rule 2004 examination is “unfettered and broad,” as the 

plain language of the rule indicates.  See 9 Collier on Bankruptcy ¶ 2004.02[1] at 2004-6 (15th 

ed. Rev. 1997) (quoting In re Table Talk, Inc., 51 B.R. 143, 145 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1985).  Courts 

have repeatedly recognized the scope of Bankruptcy Rule 2004 examinations “as broad, 

unfettered and in the nature of a ‘fishing expedition.’”  In re Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., 384 

B.R. 373, 400 (Bankr. W.D. Pa. 2008) (citing In re Lev, No. 05-35847, 2008 WL 207523, at *3 

(Bankr. D.N.J. Jan. 23, 2008); In re Silverman, 36 B.R. 254 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1984); In re 

Vantage Petroleum Corp., 34 B.R. 650 (Bankr. E.D.N.Y. 1983)).  Indeed, Bankruptcy Rule 2004 

affords parties-in-interest an extremely broad right of discovery and “is even broader than that of 

discovery permitted under [the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure], which themselves contemplate 

broad, easy access to discovery.”  In re Valley Forge Plaza Assocs., 109 B.R. 669, 674 (Bankr. 

E.D. Pa. 1990) (citations omitted). 

28. Rule 2004 relief is necessary and applicable here.  The Trustee seeks to 

recover all assets wrongfully transferred from the Debtors by Shapiro and his co-conspirators.  
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Mrs. Shapiro is the wife of the head of the criminal enterprise and an insider; a former employee 

of the Debtors for nearly their entire existence; and a recipient or beneficiary of millions of 

dollars of ill-gotten gains.  The discovery sought herein may lead to the discovery of assets 

wrongfully transferred to Mrs. Shapiro (whose consent to forfeiture does not apply to all of her 

assets).  Upon information and belief, Mrs. Shapiro also has knowledge and information about 

assets and benefits transferred by the Debtors to certain third parties as well as possible claims 

the Trustee may pursue against others, including family members of Mrs. Shapiro. 

29. As reflected in Exhibit A, the Liquidation Trust’s document requests are 

reasonable in scope.  The document requests seek materials plainly relevant to the discharge of 

the Liquidation Trust’s duties.  To ensure the timely production of these documents, the Court 

should grant this Motion in its entirety. 

 RESERVATION OF RIGHTS 

30. The Liquidation Trust reserves all of its rights, claims, defenses, and 

remedies, including, without limitation, the right to amend, modify, or supplement this Rule 

2004 Motion. 

 CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH LOCAL RULE 2004-1  

31. Attached hereto as Exhibit F is a certification of Colin R. Robinson (the 

“Certification”), counsel to the Liquidation Trust, demonstrating compliance with Local Rule 

2004-1, and stating that prior to the filing of this Motion, counsel to the Liquidation Trust 

attempted to confer with Mrs. Shapiro with respect to the voluntary production of documents and 

examination consistent with this Motion and no agreement was reached. 
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 NOTICE 

32. In accordance with Local Rule 2004-1(c), notice of this Motion is being 

given to (a) Mrs. Shapiro, (b) the Remaining Debtors, (c) the United States Trustee, and (d) those 

parties that have requested notice in these cases. 

 NO PRIOR REQUEST 

33. No prior request for the relief requested herein has been presented to this 

or any other court. 

WHEREFORE, for the reasons discussed herein, the Liquidation Trust 

respectfully requests entry of an order substantially in the form annexed hereto as Exhibit E: (i) 

granting the Motion in its entirety; (ii) compelling Mrs. Shapiro to produce documents and 

materials set forth in Exhibit A; (iii) authorizing the Liquidation Trust to request and conduct an 

examination of Mrs. Shapiro on an expedited basis; and (iv) granting such other and further relief 

as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances. 

Dated:  October 7, 2019   PACHULSKI STANG ZIEHL & JONES LLP 
 
 

/s/ Colin R. Robinson      
Richard M. Pachulski (CA Bar No. 90073) 

      Andrew W. Caine (CA Bar No. 110345) 
Bradford J. Sandler (DE Bar No. 4142) 
John A. Morris (NY Bar No. 2405397) 
Colin R. Robinson (DE Bar No. 5524) 
919 North Market Street, 17th Floor 
P.O. Box 8705 
Wilmington, DE  19899 (Courier 19801)  
Telephone: 302-652-4100 
Facsimile:  302-652-4400 
E-mail:  rpachulski@pszjlaw.com 
   acaine@pszjlaw.com 
   bsandler@pszjlaw.com 
   jmorris@pszjlaw.com 
   crobinson@pszjlaw.com 
 
Counsel for the Liquidation Trust 
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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
In re 
 
WOODBRIDGE GROUP OF 
COMPANIES, LLC, et al.,1  

   Remaining Debtors. 

 Chapter 11 
 
Case No. 17-12560 (BLS) 
 
(Jointly Administered) 
 
Objection Deadline: October 14, 2019 at 4:00 p.m. (ET) 
Hearing Date: October 23, 2019 at 9:30 a.m. (ET) 

 
NOTICE OF MOTION 

 
TO: (I) THE UNITED STATES TRUSTEE FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE; (II) THE 

TRUST AND ITS COUNSEL; (III) JERI SHAPIRO AND (IV) ANY PERSON FILING 
A SPECIFIC REQUEST FOR NOTICES AND PAPERS ON AND AFTER THE 
EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on October 7, 2019, the Woodbridge Liquidation Trust 

(the “Liquidation Trust”) filed the Liquidation Trust’s Motion for an Order Pursuant to 

Bankruptcy Rule 2004 Directing Production of Documents and Materials and Appearance for 

Oral Examination (the “Motion”) with the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of 

Delaware, 824 Market Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801 (the “Bankruptcy Court”).  A copy of 

the Motion is attached hereto. 

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that any response or objection to the entry of an 

order with respect to the relief sought in the Motion must be filed with the Bankruptcy Court on 

or before October 14, 2019 at 4:00 p.m. prevailing Eastern Time (the “Objection Deadline”). 

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that at the same time, you must also serve a copy 

of the response or objection upon the undersigned counsel on or prior to the Objection Deadline. 

                                                 
1  The Remaining Debtors and the last four digits of their respective federal tax identification numbers are as 
follows: Woodbridge Group of Companies, LLC (3603) and Woodbridge Mortgage Investment Fund 1, LLC 
(0172).  The Remaining Debtors’ mailing address is 14140 Ventura Boulevard #302, Sherman Oaks, California 
91423.   
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IF NO OBJECTIONS ARE TIMELY FILED AND SERVED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

THIS NOTICE, THE BANKRUPTCY COURT MAY GRANT THE RELIEF REQUESTED BY 

THE MOTION WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE OR HEARING. 

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE THAT A HEARING TO CONSIDER THE  

RELIEF SOUGHT IN THE MOTION WILL BE HELD BEFORE THE BEFORE THE 

HONORABLE BRENDAN L. SHANNON, UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE, IN 

THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE, 824 

N. MARKET STREET, 6TH FLOOR, COURTROOM NO. 1, WILMINGTON, DE 19801 ON 

OCTOBER 23, 2019 AT 9:30 A.M. (PREVAILING EASTERN TIME). 

 
Dated:  October 7, 2019   PACHULSKI STANG ZIEHL & JONES LLP 
 
 

/s/ Colin R. Robinson      
Richard M. Pachulski (CA Bar No. 90073) 

      Andrew W. Caine (CA Bar No. 110345) 
Bradford J. Sandler (DE Bar No. 4142) 
John A. Morris (NY Bar No. 2405397) 
Colin R. Robinson (DE Bar No. 5524) 
919 North Market Street, 17th Floor 
P.O. Box 8705 
Wilmington, DE  19899 (Courier 19801)  
Telephone: 302-652-4100 
Facsimile:  302-652-4400 
E-mail:  rpachulski@pszjlaw.com 
   acaine@pszjlaw.com 
   bsandler@pszjlaw.com 
   jmorris@pszjlaw.com 
   crobinson@pszjlaw.com 
 

      Counsel for the Liquidation Trust 
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EXHIBIT A 

Document Requests 
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 DEFINITIONS 

1. “Agreement” means an arrangement or understanding between two or 

more Persons as to a course of action. 

2. “Applicable Period” means the period from January 1, 2012 through and 

including the present. 

3. “Communication(s)” means the transmittal of information (in the form of 

facts, ideas, inquiries or otherwise, either orally or in writing), including but not limited to 

correspondence, packages, conversations, meetings, discussions, telephone calls, telegrams, 

telexes, telecopies, seminars, conferences, text messages (whether by SMS, applications such as 

“WhatsApp,” or otherwise), messages, notes, e-mails and memoranda. The transmission of 

documents or things by mail, courier or electronic service or otherwise is included, without 

limitation, in the definition of “Communication(s).” 

4. “Concerning” or “concerning” shall mean relating to, referring to, in 

connection with, in respect of, describing, evidencing, or constituting. 

5. “Document(s)” shall include electronically stored information (“ESI”) and 

is used in its customary broad sense. It shall not be limited in any way with respect to the process 

by which any Document was created, generated, or reproduced, or with respect to the medium in 

which the Document is embodied; and shall include, by way of example and without any 

limitation, all “documents,” “electronically stored information,” or “tangible things” as 

referenced in Rule 34 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, as well as all “writings,” 

“recordings,” and “photographs” as defined by Rule 1001 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, and 

any kind of tangible material in any medium of any type, upon which intelligence or information 

is recorded, or from which intelligence or information can be perceived, whether in writing, 

recorded, stored, microfilmed, microfiched, photographed, computerized, reduced to electronic 
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or magnetic impulse, or otherwise preserved or rendered. Documents further include, without 

limitation, materials maintained in electronic, magnetic or other storage media, including those 

maintained in computers, electronic or magnetic tapes or diskettes, and any on-site or off-site 

backup or so- called “erased” or “deleted” computer information that may be susceptible to 

retrieval. 

6. “Family Member” means any of (a) Your parents, children, grandchildren, 

in-laws (including a father-in-law, son-in-law, or daughter-in-law), cousins, aunts or uncles, or 

(b) any trust, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, limited liability company or 

other entity in which any of the foregoing individuals has or had a direct or indirect legal, 

equitable or beneficial interest at any time during the Applicable Period, or (c) any Person acting 

on behalf of, or for the benefit of, any of the foregoing individuals. 

7. “Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, 

association, limited liability company, governmental agency, or other entity. 

8. “RS Trust” means RS Protection Trust, the irrevocable domestic asset 

protection trust settled under Nevada law under the control of Shapiro (defined below) for the 

benefit of himself and his family, and anyone acting on behalf of the RS Trust, including but not 

limited to the Trustee of the RS Trust. 

9. “Shapiro” means Robert Shapiro in his individual capacity and/or in his 

capacity as trustee of RS Trust. 

10. “Trusts” means each and every trust (whether domestic or foreign) in 

which you (a) have or had a direct or indirect legal, equitable or beneficial interest, or (b) served 

as a trustee or fiduciary, at any time during the Applicable Period. 
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11. “Woodbridge Entity” means any corporation, partnership, joint venture, 

association, limited liability company or other entity (a) in which the RS Trust has or ever had a 

legal or equitable interest, or (b) Shapiro controls or controlled at any time during the Applicable 

Period, or (c) to the extent (if at all) not otherwise covered by the foregoing, each of the Debtors 

in the above-captioned bankruptcy cases.  

12. “You” or “Your” means (a) Jeri Shapiro, (b) any trust, corporation, 

partnership, joint venture, association, limited liability company or other entity in which Jeri 

Shapiro has or had a direct or indirect legal, equitable or beneficial interest at any time during the 

Applicable Period,2 or (c) any Person acting on behalf of Jeri Shapiro or for Jeri Shapiro’s 

benefit. 

13. For all purposes herein, spelling, grammar, syntax, abbreviations, idioms, 

and proper nouns shall be construed and interpreted according to their context to give proper 

meaning and consistency to the Requests for Production of Documents set forth herein (the 

“Request” or “Requests”). 

 INSTRUCTIONS 

Rules 26 through 37 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, made applicable to this 

proceeding pursuant to Rules 7026 through 7037 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure, 

are hereby incorporated by reference and apply to each of the following instructions: 

1. All Documents shall be identified by the Request(s) to which they are 

primarily responsive or be produced as they are maintained in the usual course of business.  

                                                 
2 These entities include, but are not limited to: 3X A Charm LLC; Archway Masters Construction LLC; Beeman Studio City LLC; Carbondale 
Basalt Owners LLC; Carbondale Primrose Ventures; Commercial Bridge Lending; Davana Primrose Ventures LLC; Davana Sherman Oaks 
Owners LLC; 204 Derby Ave LLC; Direct Insurance Source LLC; In Trend Staging LLC; Golden Mesa Ventures LLC; Golden Primrose 
Ventures LLC; JS Family Trust; Mesa Glen Enterprises LLC; Midland Loop Enterprises LLC; Moorpark Boca Funding LLC; Reliance 
Marketing Solutions LLC; Riverdale Funding LLC; Schwartz Media Buying Company LLC; Seaview Moorpark Real Estate Investment LLC; 
Settlement Depot LLC; Summit Sherman Oaks, LLC; and Stover Real Estate Partners LLC. 
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2. Produce all Documents and all other materials described below in Your 

actual or constructive possession, custody, or control, including in the possession, custody, or 

control of a current or former employee or agent, that were created during or that relate or refer 

to the Applicable Period, wherever those Documents and materials are maintained, including on 

personal computers, PDAs, wireless devices, or web-based email systems such as Gmail, Yahoo, 

etc. 

3. You must produce all Documents in Your possession, custody, or control, 

whether maintained in electronic or paper form and whether located on hardware owned and 

maintained by You or hardware owned and/or maintained by a third party that stores data on 

Your behalf. You must produce all such Documents even if they were deleted or are in draft 

form. Without limitation, hardware where such data may be stored (and from which such data 

must be retrieved) includes: servers; desktop, laptop, or tablet computers; cell and smart phones; 

PDA devices; scanners, fax machines, and copying machines; and mobile storage devices, such 

as thumb or external hard drives. Electronically stored Documents include any computerized 

data or content stored on electromagnetic media. Without limitation, types of electronically 

stored Documents include email, voicemail, instant messages, text messages (whether by SMS, 

applications such as “WhatsApp,” or otherwise), intranet and internet system data, telephone and 

cellular telephone calling records, data compilations, spreadsheets, word processing files, 

images, databases, digital photocopier memory, and any other information stored in memory 

storage devices. 

4. Produce the original or duplicate, as such terms are defined by Rule 1001 

of the Federal Rules of Evidence, of each Document requested together with all non-identical 
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copies and drafts of that Document. If a duplicate is produced, it should be legible and bound or 

stapled in the same manner as the original.  

5. Documents not otherwise responsive to these Requests should be 

produced: (i) if such Documents mention, discuss, refer to, explain, or concern one or more 

Documents that are called for by these Requests; (ii) if such Documents are attached to, enclosed 

with, or accompany Documents called for by these Requests; or (iii) if such Documents 

constitute routing slips, transmittal memoranda or letters, comments, evaluations, or similar 

materials. 

6. Documents attached to each other should not be separated; separate 

Documents should not be attached to each other. 

7. Documents should include all exhibits, appendices, linked Documents, or 

otherwise appended Documents that are referenced in, attached to, included with, or are a part of 

the requested Documents. 

8. If any Document, or any part thereof, is not produced based on a claim of 

attorney-client privilege, work-product protection, or any other privilege, then in answer to such 

Request or part thereof, for each such Document, You must: 

a. Identify the type, title and subject matter of the Document; 

b. State the place, date, and manner of preparation of the Document; 

c. Identify all authors, addressees, and recipients of the Document, 
including information about such Persons to assess the privilege 
asserted; and 

d. Identify the legal privilege(s) and the factual basis for the claim 
with sufficient particularity to enable an assessment of the claim. 

9. Documents should not contain redactions unless such redactions are made 

to protect information subject to the attorney-client privilege and/or work product doctrine. In the 
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event any Documents are produced with redactions, a log setting forth the information requested 

in Instruction 8 above must be provided.  

10. To the extent a Document sought herein was at one time, but is no longer, 

in your actual or constructive possession, custody, or control, state whether it: (i) is missing or 

lost; (ii) has been destroyed; (iii) has been transferred to others; and/or (iv) has been otherwise 

disposed of.  In each instance, Identify the Document, state the time period during which it was 

maintained, state the circumstance and date surrounding authorization for such disposition, 

Identify each Person having knowledge of the circumstances of the disposition, and Identify each 

Person who had possession, custody, or control of the Document. Documents prepared prior to, 

but which relate or refer to, the time period covered by these Requests are to be identified and 

produced. 

 MANNER OF PRODUCTION 

11. All Documents produced shall be provided in either native file (“native”) 

or single-page 300 dpi-resolution group IV TIF format (“tiff”) format as specified below, along 

with appropriately formatted industry-standard database load files, and accompanied by true and 

correct copies or representations of unaltered attendant metadata. Where Documents are 

produced in tiff format, each Document shall be produced along with a multi-page, Document-

level searchable text file (“searchable text”) as rendered by an industry-standard text extraction 

program in the case of electronic originals, or by an industry-standard Optical Character 

Recognition (“ocr”) program in the case of scanned paper Documents.  Searchable text of 

Documents shall not be produced as fielded data within the “.dat file” as described below. 

12. Database load files shall consist of: (i) a comma-delimited values (.dat) 

file containing: production Document identifier information, data designed to preserve “parent 

and child” relationships within Document “families,” reasonably accessible and properly 
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preserved metadata (or bibliographic coding in the case of paper Documents), custodian or 

Document source information; and (ii) an Opticon (.opt) file to facilitate the loading of tiff 

images. Load files should be provided in a root-level folder named “Data,” images shall be 

provided within a root level “Images” folder containing reasonably structured subfolders, and 

searchable text files shall be provided in a single root-level “Text” folder. If any of the 

Documents produced in response to these Requests are designated as confidential pursuant to a 

Protective Order or Confidentiality Agreement, in addition to marking the Documents with the 

brand “CONFIDENTIAL” or branding the media with the word “CONFIDENTIAL,” also 

include a confidential field within the load file, with a “yes” or “no” indicating whether the 

Document has been designated as confidential, as well as native file loading/linking information 

(where applicable). 

13. Documents and other responsive data or materials created, stored, or 

displayed on electronic or electro-magnetic media shall be produced in the order in which the 

Documents are or were stored in the ordinary course of business, including all reasonably 

accessible metadata, custodian or Document source information, and searchable text as to allow, 

through a reasonable and modest effort, the fair, accurate, and complete access, search, display, 

comprehension, and assessment of the Documents’ true and original content. 

14. All Documents and accompanying metadata created and/or stored in the 

ordinary course of business within commercial, off-the-shelf email systems including but not 

limited to Microsoft Exchange™, Lotus Notes™, or Novell Groupwise™ shall be produced in 

tiff format, accompanying metadata, and searchable text files or, alternately, in a format that 

fairly, accurately, and completely represents each Document in such a manner as to make the 

Document(s) reasonably useable, manageable, and comprehendible.  
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15. With the exclusion of email and email account-related Documents and 

data, all Documents and accompanying metadata created and/or stored in structured electronic 

databases or files shall be produced in a format that enables the reasonable management and 

importation of those Documents into a useable, coherent database. Documents must be 

accompanied by reasonably detailed documentation explaining the Documents’ content and 

format including but not limited to data dictionaries and diagrams. Some acceptable formats, if 

and only if provided with definitive file(s), table(s), and field level schemas include: 

a. XML format file(s); 

b. Microsoft SQL database(s); 

c. Access database(s); and/or 

d. fixed or variable length ASCII delimited files. 

16. All Documents generated or stored in software such as Microsoft Excel or 

other commercially available spreadsheet programs, as well as any multimedia files such as 

audio or video, shall be produced in their native format, along with an accompanying placeholder 

image in tiff format indicating a native file has been produced. A “Nativelink” entry shall be 

included in the .dat load file indicating the relative file path to each native file on the production 

media. To the extent You have other file types that do not readily or easily and accurately 

convert to tiff and searchable text, You may elect to produce those files in native format subject 

to the other requirements listed herein. Native files may be produced within a separate root-level 

folder structure on deliverable media entitled “Natives.” 

17. All other Documents and accompanying metadata and embedded data 

created or stored in unstructured files generated by commercially available software systems 

(excluding emails, structured electronic databases, spreadsheets, or multimedia) such as, but not 

limited to, word processing files (such as Microsoft Word), image files (such as Adobe .pdf files 
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and other formats), and text files shall be produced in tiff and searchable text format in the order 

the files are or were stored in the ordinary course of business. 

18. Documents originally created or stored on paper shall be produced in tiff 

format.  Relationships between Documents shall be identified within the Relativity .dat file 

utilizing document identifier numbers to express parent document/child attachment boundaries, 

folder boundaries, and other groupings. In addition, the searchable text of each Document shall 

be provided as a multi-page text file as provided for by these Requests. 

 DOCUMENT REQUESTS 

1. All Agreements that You or any Family Member entered into with Shapiro 

or any Woodbridge Entity during the Applicable Period. 

2. All Agreements that You or any Family Member entered into with Shapiro 

or any Woodbridge Entity Concerning any Woodbridge Entity or any asset that is or was owned 

or controlled by any Woodbridge Entity during the Applicable Period. 

3. All Agreements that You entered into with any Family Member 

Concerning any Woodbridge Entity or any asset that is or was owned or controlled by any 

Woodbridge Entity during the Applicable Period. 

4. All Agreements that You or any Family Member entered into with RS 

Trust during the Applicable Period. 

5. All Documents and Communications Concerning any Agreement 

identified in response to Request Nos. 1, 2, 3 or 4. 

6. Documents sufficient to identify each thing of value that You or any 

Family Member received from any Woodbridge Entity during the Applicable Period. 

7. Documents sufficient to identify each thing of value that You or any 

Family Member received from Shapiro during the Applicable Period. 
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8. Documents sufficient to identify each thing of value that You or any 

Family Member received from RS Trust during the Applicable Period. 

9. Documents sufficient to identify each thing of value that You gifted, 

conveyed or otherwise transferred to each Family Member during the Applicable Period 

10. All Documents and Communications Concerning each thing of value 

identified in the Documents responsive to Request Nos. 6, 7, 8, or 9. 

11. All Communications between You and any individual employed by or 

affiliated with any Woodbridge Entity during the Applicable Period. 

12. To the extent not responsive to Request No. 11, all Communications 

between You and any Woodbridge Entity during the Applicable Period. 

13. All Communications between You and RS Trust during the Applicable 

Period. 

14. All Communications between You and Comerica Concerning (1) any 

Woodbridge Entity; (2) RS Trust; (3) Shapiro; or (4) any transfers from Comerica to You or for 

Your benefit, during the Applicable Period. 

15. All Communications between You and any federal or state regulatory or 

law enforcement body or agency (including but not limited to the Securities and Exchange 

Commission or the United States Department of Justice) Concerning (1) any Woodbridge Entity; 

(2) RS Trust; (3) Shapiro; or (4) You. 

16. All Documents Concerning any Communications identified in response to 

Request No. 15. 
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17. Documents sufficient to identify every claim, action, lawsuit, or demand 

made against You or in which You are a party Concerning any Woodbridge Entity, RS Trust or 

Shapiro. 

18. All applications for any loan filed or tendered by You during the 

Applicable Period. 

19. Documents sufficient to identify (a) each of the Trusts, (b) the date on 

which each of the Trusts was formed, and (c) the trustee, administrator and/or settlor of each of 

the Trusts. 

20. All Communications Concerning each of the Trusts. 
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Investment Fund 3A, LLC, Woodbridge Mortgage Investment Fund 4, LLC, Woodbridge 

Commercial Bridge Loan Fund 1, LLC, and Woodbridge Commercial Bridge Loan Fund 2, LLC 

(collectively, "Woodbridge Fund Companies") were Delaware companies formed between 2010 

and 2015, all of which were created to act on behalf of Woodbridge. 

3. WMF Management, LLC ("WMF") was a California company formed in 2012 and 

created to act on behalf of Woodbridge. 

4. Woodbridge Structured Funding, LLC, a/k/a Woodbridge Structured Funding of 

Florida, LLC, ("WSF") was a Delaware company formed in 2009 and created to act on behalf of 

Woodbridge. 

5. Woodbridge Realty of Colorado ("Woodbridge Realty") was a Colorado company 

formed in 2014 and created to act on behalf of Woodbridge. 

6. Mercer Vine, Inc. ("Mercer Vine") was a California corporation formed in 2014 

and created to act on behalf of Woodbridge. 

7. Riverdale Funding, LLC ("Riverdale") was a Delaware corporation formed in 2012 

and created to act on behalf of Woodbridge. 

8. RS Protection Trust ("RS Trust") was created under Nevada law in 2013 and served 

as a holding trust for the assets of Woodbridge, WMF, WSF, and approximately two-hundred and 

seventy-two (272) other Woodbridge associated Delaware and Colorado companies. 

9. Devon Mason, Inc. ("Devon Mason") was a California company formed in 2013. 

10. Precise Investment Group, LLC ("Precise Investment") was a California company 

formed in 2014. 

11. iAlt Portfolio Management, LLC and iAlt Enhanced Income Portfolio I, LLC ( d/b/a 

iAlternatives) (collectively, "iAlternatives") was a California company formed in 2015. 
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12. Talon Opportunities, Inc. ("Talon") was a California-based company formed in 

2016. 

The Defendants 

13. Defendant ROBERT SHAPIRO was the owner, president, and chief executive 

officer of Woodbridge. SHAPIRO additionally operated, directed and controlled the Woodbridge 

Fund Companies, WMF, WSF, Woodbridge Realty, Mercer Vine, Riverdale, and RS Trust. 

14. Defendant DANE ROSEMAN, a/k/a "Dayne Roseman," served as the managing 

director of Woodbridge between January 2015 and December 2017. ROSEMAN, among other 

things, sold Woodbridge securities, created Woodbridge marketing materials and sales scripts, and 

trained and supervised Woodbridge internal sales agents who sold Woodbridge securities. 

ROSEMAN additionally acted as a corporate officer for Precise Investment and Talon. 

' 15. Defendant IVAN ACEVEDO became a Woodbridge Structured Funding sales 

agent in 2009. He later served as a sales agent for Woodbridge. Between 2013 and December 

2014, ACEVEDO served as the managing director of Woodbridge, and, among other things, sold 

Woodbridge securities, created Woodbridge marketing materials and sales scripts, and trained and 

supervised Woodbridge internal sales agents who sold Woodbridge securities. ACEVEDO acted 

as an outside sales agent and the owner and operator of Devon Mason and iAlternatives between 

January 2015 to December 2017, during which time he sold Woodbridge securities. 

Definitions 

16. A "security" is a financial instrument that holds some type of monetary value. It 

represents an ownership position in a corporation via stock, bond, promissory note, or right to 

ownership as represented by a share, option, or unit. 
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17. A "promissory note" is a financial instrument that contains a written promise by 

one party to pay another party a definite sum of money, either on demand or at a specified future 

date. A promissory note contains key terms pertaining to the debt and obligation, such as the 

principal amount, interest rate, maturity date, place of issuance, and issuer's signature. 

18. A "unit" is a type of security that represents an ownership interest in a company. 

19. A "Ponzi" or "Ponzi scheme" is an investment fraud scheme that involves the 

payment of claimed returns to existing investors from funds contributed by new investors. Ponzi 

scheme organizers often solicit new investors by promising to invest funds in opportunities 

claimed to generate high returns with little or no risk. In many Ponzi schemes, the participants 

focus on attracting new money to make promised payments to earlier-stage investors to create the 

false appearance that investors are profiting from a legitimate business. Ponzi schemes require a 

consistent flow of money from new investors to continue and tend to collapse when it becomes 

difficult to recruit new investors or when a large number of investors ask for their money back. 

20. A "phone room" or "boiler room" is a place or operation where salespeople use 

telephones, emails, and other means to contact potential investors in order to sell speculative and 

fraudulent securities through high-pressure sales tactics. 

COUNT 1 
Conspiracy to Commit Mail Fraud and Wire Fraud 

(18 u.s.c. § 1349) 

1. The General Allegations section of this Indictment 1s realleged and fully 

incorporated herein by reference. 

2. From in or around July 2012, through in or around December 2017, in Miami-Dade, 

Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the 

defendants, 
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ROBERT SHAPIRO, 
DANE ROSEMAN, 

a/k/a "Dayne Roseman," and 
IV AN ACEVEDO, 

did willfully, that is, with the intent to further the objects of the conspiracy, and knowingly 

combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with each other and others known and unknown to the 

Grand Jury, to commit certain offenses against the United States, namely: 

(a) to knowingly and with the intent to defraud, devise, and intend to devise a scheme 

and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and 

fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowing that the pretenses, representations, 

and promises were false and fraudulent when made, and for the purpose of executing such scheme 

and artifice to defraud, did knowingly cause to be delivered certain mail matter by the United 

States Postal Service and by private and commercial interstate carrier, according to the directions 

thereon, for the purpose of executing the scheme and artifice to defraud, in violation of Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 1341; and 

(b) to knowingly and with the intent to defraud, devise, and intend to devise a scheme 

and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and 

fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowing that the pretenses, representations, 

and promises were false and fraudulent when made, and for the purpose of executing such scheme 

and artifice to defraud, did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted in interstate and foreign 

commerce, by means of wire communication, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, 

in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343. 
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PURPOSE OF THE CONSPIRACY 

3. It was a purpose of the conspiracy for the defendants and their co-conspirators to 

defraud investors and obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations, and promises in connection with the sale of securities, in the form of 

promissory notes and units, by: (a) soliciting and causing others to solicit millions of dollars in 

investor funds under false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises; (b) intentionally 

failing to utilize investor funds and assets in the manner that the defendants, their co-conspirators 

and others had promised; ( c) misappropriating and converting investor funds for their own benefit 

and the benefit of others without the knowledge and authorization of the investors; and (d) making 

false statements and engaging in other fraudulent activities designed to conceal the commission of 

the offense. 

MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY 

The manner and means by which the defendants and their co-conspirators sought to 

accomplish the objects and purpose of the conspiracy included, among others, the following: 

4. Beginning in or around July 2012 and continuing through at least in or around 

December 2017, ROBERT SHAPIRO, DANE ROSEMAN, IVAN ACEVEDO, and their co

conspirators primarily sold two types of securities to investors: (a) short-term promissory notes 

that purportedly paid investors monthly interest that Woodbridge described as a First Position 

Commercial Mortgage ("FPCM") and (b) fund offerings with five-year terms ("Fund Offerings") 

that were sold to investors as equity "units" that also falsely and fraudulently claimed to pay 

investors interest payments. The defendants claimed that both securities were "protected" by real 

property owned by third-party borrowers. 
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5. Through telephone and in-person conversations, as well as the dissemination of 

sales material through mailings, wire communications such as emails and website displays, and 

other means, ROBERT SHAPIRO, DANE ROSEMAN, IV AN ACEVEDO, and their co-

conspirators, promoted to potential investors these securities, and targeted elderly investors who 

had Individual Retirement Accounts. 

6. ROBERT SHAPIRO hired sales agents to solicit potential investors from the 

Woodbridge "phone room" that DANE ROSEMAN and IV AN ACEVEDO managed. The phone 

room functioned as a "boiler room," and featured high-pressure sales tactics, deception, material 

misrepresentations, and investor manipulation. Through telemarketing, Woodbridge sales agents 

contacted potential investors located throughout the United States, and solicited, offered, and sold 

Woodbridge investments to them. 

7. ROBERT SHAPIRO, DANE ROSEMAN, IVAN ACEVEDO and their co-

conspirators utilized a network of hundreds of external sales agents to solicit investments from the 

general public by way of television, radio, and newspaper advertisements, telemarketing 

campaigns, social media, websites, seminars, and in-person presentations. At one point during the 

conspiracy, the Woodbridge network of external salespeople included over 600 people. 

8. From 2012 to 2017, ROBERT SHAPIRO paid more than $80 million m 

commissions to sales agents selling investments in Woodbridge securities. SHAPIRO controlled 

Woodbridge's bank accounts and was the sole signatory on all of Woodbridge and its affiliates' 

bank accounts, hand-signing thousands of checks to sales agents and others. 

9. ROBERT SHAPIRO, DANE ROSEMAN, IV AN ACEVEDO and their co-

conspirators directed investors to make payments for the Woodbridge investments by: (a) 
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transferring funds electronically via interstate wires to bank accounts SHAPIRO controlled; or (b) 

mailing checks to Woodbridge's corporate office in California. 

First Position Commercial Mortgage ("FPCM") 

10. ROBERT SHAPIRO, DANE ROSEMAN, IVAN ACEVEDO, and their co-

conspirators' FPCM business model was to solicit money from investors and, in exchange, issue 

investors promissory notes reflecting purported loans to Woodbridge that paid monthly interest 

and matured in twelve to eighteen months. The FPCM was issued by one of the Woodbridge Fund 

Companies. 

11. ROBERT SHAPIRO, DANE ROSEMAN, IV AN ACEVEDO, and their co-

conspirators falsely and fraudulently represented that the FPCM was a "simple, safer and more 

secured opportunity for individuals to achieve their financial objectives." They told investors that 

Woodbridge was making short-term, high-interest-rate loans to third-party commercial property 

owners that would be secured by real estate. The defendants falsely and fraudulently claimed that 

Woodbridge's profits would be generated by the difference between the interest rate Woodbridge 

charged borrowers and the interest rate it paid investors. 

12. ROBERT SHAPIRO, DANE ROSEMAN, IVAN ACEVEDO, and their co-

conspirators falsely and fraudulently represented to investors that they would have a "first

position" on the real property serving as collateral on the loan, which meant "you have priority 

over any other liens or claims on a property if the owner [borrower] defaults." 

13. ROBERT SHAPIRO, DANE ROSEMAN, IVAN ACEVEDO, and their co-

conspirators falsely and fraudulently told investors that the third-party borrowers were bona-fide 

commercial property owners who could not obtain traditional loans and were willing to pay 

Woodbridge higher interest rates for short-term financing. They falsely and fraudulently claimed 
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that (a) the third-party borrowers' real property was the collateral that formed the claimed "safety" 

and "security" in the Woodbridge FPCM, and (b) that investors' returns were generated by the 

third-party borrowers' interest and principal payments. 

14. Contrary to the representations of ROBERT SHAPIRO, DANE ROSEMAN, 

IVAN ACEVEDO, and their co-conspirators, Woodbridge made almost no loans to third-party 

borrowers, and there were almost no real properties belonging to third-party borrowers that were 

used as collateral. SHAPIRO actually used nearly all of the money received from FPCM investors 

to purchase real properties that he and his co-conspirators controlled, a material fact that 

SHAPIRO, ROSEMAN, ACEVEDO, and their co-conspirators failed to disclose to investors. 

For the SHAPIRO-owned properties, there were no loan payments and no interest payments to 

Woodbridge. Instead, SHAPIRO and his co-conspirators operated a Ponzi scheme, generating 

income primarily through new investor money and using the newly raised money to make 

scheduled payments to previous investors. 

15. ROBERT SHAPIRO, DANE ROSEMAN, and IVAN ACEVEDO instructed 

internal sales agents not to disclose the fact that SHAPIRO, through his many shell companies, 

actually owned the real properties, and instructed them to conceal this material fact from investors. 

SHAPIRO, ROSEMAN, ACEVEDO, and their co-conspirators directed sales agents that if 

investors asked about the ownership of the properties, to falsely and fraudulently represent that the 

third-party borrowers were "affiliates" of Woodbridge. If investors asked about the identity of the 

"affiliates," the defendants and their co-conspirators directed sales agents to falsely and 

fraudulently explain that the "affiliates" were people that "had done business" with Woodbridge 

or SHAPIRO. Towards the end of the conspiracy, the defendants and their co-conspirators 
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allowed sales agents to disclose that "some" of the properties were owned by Woodbridge, still 

concealing the material fact that nearly all the properties were owned by SHAPIRO. 

Fund Offerings 

16. The Fund Offerings consisted of private placement investments with five-year 

terms. ROBERT SHAPIRO, DANE ROSEMAN, IV AN ACEVEDO, and their co-conspirators 

claimed that the units for the Fund Offerings had a greater rate of return than the FPCM notes. For 

the Fund Offerings, the defendants and their co-conspirators falsely and fraudulently represented 

that the Woodbridge Fund Companies would pool money received from FPCM investors and, 

among other things, lend those funds to third-party borrowers for one to two years. The defendants 

and their co-conspirators falsely and fraudulently told investors that the value in these units was 

based on the performance of Woodbridge's assets, including its ownership ofFPCMs. 

17. In the offering memoranda for the Fund Offerings, the defendants falsely and 

fraudulently represented that investors' money would be used for mezzanine loans, construction 

loans, real estate acquisitions, and other real estate investments, notably, Woodbridge's FPCMs. 

In describing the Fund Offerings to investors, the defendants made some of the same false and 

fraudulent misrepresentations as those made to the f PCM investors discussed above. 

18. When FPCM promissory notes became due after their twelve to eighteen month 

terms, ROBERT SHAPIRO, DANE ROSEMAN, IVAN ACEVEDO, and their co-conspirators 

sought extensions and re-enrollment of FPCM investors, and frequently convinced FPCM 

investors to move their money into the longer-term five-year Fund Offerings. 

19. Because the Woodbridge Fund Companies were not receiving any interest 

payments and principal repayments on the ROBERT SHAPIRO-owned real property 

transactions, SHAPIRO used new investor funds to pay the interest and dividends owed to 
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previous Fund Investors. Through these payments the defendants made it appear as if Woodbridge 

was loaning investor funds to actual third-party borrowers and creating FPCMs, when there were 

no third-party borrowers making any principal and interest payments to Woodbridge or the Fund 

Offerings. 

20. ROBERT SHAPIRO in 2017 began considering placing Woodbridge into 

bankruptcy. However, SHAPIRO, DANE ROSEMAN, IV AN ACEVEDO, and their co-

conspirators continued selling false and fraudulent investments in FPCM and Fund Offerings 

without disclosing to investors that Woodbridge was insolvent and on the verge of bankruptcy. 

SHAPIRO, ROSEMAN, ACEVEDO, and their co-conspirators received more than $52 million 

of investor money from October 2017 through the filing ofWoodbridge's bankruptcy in December 

2017. 

21. To induce investors to provide money to the defendants and their co-conspirators, 

the defendants and their co-conspirators made and caused others to make materially false and 

fraudulent statements to investors, and concealed and omitted to state, and caused others to conceal 

and omit to state, material facts to investors, including, among other things, the following: 

Materially False Statements 

(a) that FPCM investors had first position and priority over any other liens or claims 

on a property if the property owner defaulted; 

(b) that third-party borrowers paid interest on Woodbridge loans; 

(c) that Woodbridge revenue was generated by third-party borrowers paying interest 

on Woodbridge loans; 

(d) that Woodbridge "affiliates" were third-party borrowers and commercial real 

property owners; 
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( e) that Woodbridge secured investor money with real property; 

(f) that Woodbridge would use investor money to originate loans to third-party 

borrowers; 

(g) that Woodbridge investments were "low risk," "simpler," "safe" and 

"conservative;" and 

(h) that the Woodbridge Fund Companies were profitable. 

Concealment and Omission of Material Facts 

(i) that new Woodbridge investor money was used to pay prior Woodbridge investors; 

G) that ROBERT SHAPIRO used FPCM investor money to buy real property; 

(k) that ROBERT SHAPIRO owned nearly all of the real property at the center of 

every investment product offered by Woodbridge; 

(1) that several states issued cease-and-desist orders against Woodbridge and sales 

agents that sold Woodbridge securities, barring sales of Woodbridge securities; and 

(m) that Woodbridge was insolvent and on the verge of bankruptcy. 

22. ROBERT SHAPIRO and his co-conspirators paid approximately $2.5 million to 

DANE ROSEMAN and approximately $1.1 million to IVAN ACEVEDO. SHAPIRO took 

approximately $35 million for his benefit, spending millions on personal expenditures, such as 

$3.1 million for chartering private planes and travel, $6.7 million on a personal home, $2.6 million 

on home improvements, $1.8 million on personal income taxes, $1.4 million to his ex-wife, and 

over $672,000 on luxury automobiles. 

23. On December 4, 2017, ROBERT SHAPIRO caused most of the Woodbridge 

companies to file Chapter 11 bankruptcy, which caused investors to suffer substantial losses, as 
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they were owed at least $961 million in principal. At least 2,600 of these investor victims invested 

their retirement savings, totaling approximately $400 million. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349. 

COUNTS2-6 
Mail Fraud 

(18 u.s.c. § 1341) 

1. The General Allegations section of this Indictment 1s realleged and fully 

incorporated herein by reference. 

2. From in or around July 2012, through in or around December 2017, in Miami-Dade, 

Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the 

defendants, 

ROBERT SHAPIRO, 
DANE ROSEMAN, 

a/k/a "Dayne Roseman," and 
IV AN ACEVEDO, 

did knowingly, and with the intent to defraud, devise, and intend to devise a scheme and artifice 

to defraud, and obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, 

representations, and promises, knowing that the pretenses, representations, and promises were 

false and fraudulent when made, and for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice did 

knowingly cause to be delivered certain mail matter by the United States Postal Service and by 

private and commercial interstate carrier, according to the directions thereon, in violation of Title 

18, United States Code, Section 1341. 

PURPOSE OF THE SCHEME AND ARTIFICE 

3. It was a purpose of the scheme and artifice for the defendants and their accomplices 

to defraud investors and obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations, and promises in connection with the sale of securities in the form of 

13 
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promissory notes and units, by: (a) soliciting and causing others to solicit millions of dollars in 

investor funds under false pretenses, representations and promises; (b) intentionally failing to 

utilize investor funds and assets in the manner that the defendants, their co-conspirators and others 

had promised; ( c) misappropriating and converting investor funds for their own benefit and the 

benefit of others without the knowledge or authorization of the investors; and ( d) making false 

statements and engaging in other fraudulent activities designed to conceal the commission of the 

offense. 

MANNER AND MEANS OF THE SCHEME AND ARTIFICE 

4. Paragraphs 4 through 23 of the Manner and Means Section of Count 1 are realleged 

and fully incorporated herein as a/description of the manner and means of the scheme and artifice. 

USE OF THE MAILS 

5. On or about the dates specified as to each count below, as specified for each 

defendant, for the purpose of executing and in furtherance of the scheme and artifice to defraud, 

and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, 

representations, and promises, knowing that the pretenses, representations, and promises were 

false and fraudulent when made, did knowingly cause to be delivered certain mail matter by the 

United States Postal Service and by private and commercial interstate carrier, according to the 

directions thereon: 

COUNT DEFENDANTS APPROXIMATE DESCRIPTION 
DATE OF MAILING 

2 ROBERT SHAPIRO September 22, 2014 Investors C.Z. and J.Z's agent 
and mailed check #273269 drawn 

IV AN ACEVEDO from investor C.Z. and J.Z.'s 
TD Bank account in Fort Pierce, 
Florida, to Woodbridge m 
Sherman Oaks, California 
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COUNT DEFENDANTS APPROXIMATE 
DATE 

DESCRIPTION 
OF MAILING 

3 

4 

5 

6 

ROBERT SHAPIRO and 
DANE ROSEMAN, 

a/k/a "Dayne Roseman" 

ROBERT SHAPIRO and 
DANE ROSEMAN, 

a/k/a "Dayne Roseman" 

ROBERT SHAPIRO, and 
DANE ROSEMAN, 

a/k/a "Dayne Roseman" 

ROBERT SHAPIRO, and 
DANE ROSEMAN, 

a/k/a "Dayne Roseman" 

March 19, 2015 

April 15, 2015 

March 13, 2017 

August 25, 2017 

Investor M.W. mailed check 
#1341 drawn from investor 
M.W.'s Regions Bank account 
m Boca Raton, Florida, to 
Woodbridge in Sherman Oaks, 
California 
Investor L.S.'s agent mailed 
check # 108 drawn from 
investor L. S. 's Merrill Lynch 
account in Wellington, Florida 
to Woodbridge m Sherman 
Oaks, California 
Investor D.J. mailed check #201 
drawn from investor D.J.'s 
Wells Fargo account in Jensen 
Beach, Florida to Woodbridge 
in Sherman Oaks, California 
Investor H.B. mailed check 
# 1003 drawn from investor 
D.J.'s Fidelity account m 
Delray Beach, Florida to 
Woodbridge in Sherman Oaks, 
California 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2. 

COUNTS 7-8 
Wire Fraud 

(18 u.s.c. § 1343) 

1. Paragraphs 1 through 8, 10, 12 through 14, and 16 through 20 of the General 

Allegations section of this Indictment are realleged and fully incorporated herein by reference. 

2. From in or around July 2012, through in or around December 2017, in Miami-Dade 

Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the 

defendants, 

ROBERT SHAPIRO and 
DANE ROSEMAN, 
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did knowingly, and with the intent to defraud, devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to 

defraud and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, 

representations, and promises, knowing that the pretenses, representations, and promises were 

false and fraudulent when made, and for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice to 

defraud, did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted in interstate and foreign commerce, 

by means of wire communication, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, in violation 

of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343. 

PURPOSE OF THE SCHEME AND ARTIFICE 

3. It was a purpose of the scheme and artifice for the defendants and their accomplices 

to defraud investors and obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations, and promises in connection with the sale of securities, in the form of 

promissory notes and units, by: (a) soliciting and causing others to solicit millions of dollars in 

investor funds under false pretenses, representations and promises; (b) intentionally failing to 

utilize investor funds and assets in the manner that the defendants, their co-conspirators and others 

had promised; ( c) misappropriating and converting investor funds for their own benefit and the 

benefit of others without the knowledge or authorization of the investors; and ( d) making false 

statements and engaging in other fraudulent activities designed to conceal the commission of the 

offense. 

MANNER AND MEANS OF THE SCHEME AND ARTIFICE 

4. Paragraphs 4 through 23 of the Manner and Means Section of Count 1, only as to 

defendant ROBERT SHAPIRO and DANE ROSEMAN, a/k/a "Dayne Roseman," are 

realleged and fully incorporated herein as a description of the manner and means of the scheme 

and artifice. 

. 
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USE OF THE WIRES 

5. On or about the dates specified as to each count below, as specified for each 

defendant, for the purpose of executing and in furtherance of the scheme and artifice to defraud 

and to obtain money and property by means of materially and false and fraudulent pretenses, 

representations, and promises, knowing the pretenses, representations, and promises were false 

and fraudulent when made, did transmit and caused to be transmitted by wire some communication 

in interstate commerce to help carry out the scheme to defraud, according to the directions thereon: 

COUNT 

7 

8 

DEFENDANTS 

ROBERT SHAPIRO and 
DANE ROSEMAN, 

a/k/a "Dayne Roseman" 

ROBERT SHAPIRO and 
DANE ROSEMAN, 

a/k/a "Dayne Roseman" 

APPROXIMATE 
DATE 

December 22, 2016 

July 5, 2017 

DESCRIPTION OF WIRE 
COMMUNICATION 

Investor M.W., located m 
Boca Raton, Florida wired 
$250,000 from his Regions 
Bank account in Florida to a 
Woodbridge Mortgage 
Investment Fund 3A, LLC 
Comerica Bank account in 
Sherman Oaks, California 
Investor D.D., located in Fort 
Pierce, Florida wired $50,000 
from a Provident Trust Group 
LLC account in Nevada to 
Woodbridge Mortgage 
Investment Fund 4, LLC 
Comerica Bank account m 
Sherman Oaks, California 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2. 

COUNT9 
Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering 

(18 u.s.c. § 1956(h)) 

From in or around July 2012, through in or around December 2017, in Miami-Dade 

Broward, and Palm Beach Counties, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the 

defendant, 

17 
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l ROBERT SHAPIRO, 

did willfully, that is, with the intent to further the object of the conspiracy, and knowingly combine, 

conspire, confederate, and agree with others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to violate 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(l)(B)(i), that is, to knowingly conduct a financial 

transaction affecting interstate and foreign commerce, which transaction involved the proceeds of 

specified unlawful activity, knowing that the property involved in the financial transaction 

represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, and knowing that such transaction was 

designed in whole and in part to conceal and disguise the nature, the location, the source, the 

ownership, and the control of the proceeds of specified unlawful activity. 

It is further alleged that the specified unlawful activity is mail fraud and wire fraud, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 1343. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h). 

COUNT 10 
Evasion of Payment of Federal Income Taxes 

(26 u.s.c. § 7201) 

1. From in or around January 2002 through the present, ROBERT SHAPIRO, in 

Broward County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, willfully attempted to evade 

and defeat the payment of income tax due and owing by him to the United States of America, for 

the calendar years 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, with total tax due and owing of$6,061,134, 

by committing the following affirmative acts, among others: 

a. filing false and fraudulent IRS Forms 1040, U.S. Individual Income Tax Returns, 

with the IRS understating his total income and tax due and owing; 

b. creating RS Trust in the State of Nevada on or about June 25, 2013, to conceal his 

assets and income; 
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c. transferring approximately $60,537,176 from RS Trust to nominee bank accounts 

controlled by him; 

d. creating and using nominee owner bank accounts to pay personal expenses totaling 

approximately $27,331,075, including the purchase and renovation of his home, luxury 

airline travel, wine, entertainment, luxury vehicles, and jewelry; and 

e. filing a false and fraudulent IRS Form 656-L, "Offer in Compromise (Doubt As 

To Liability)," with the IRS in Plantation Florida, on or about March 13, 2017, wherein he 

lied about his physical home address on the signed form under penalty of perjury. 

In violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7201. 

FORFEITURE 
(18 U.S.C. §§ 981(a)(l)(C)), 982(a)(l) and 26 U.S.C. § 7301) 

1. The allegations of this Indictment are realleged, and by this reference fully 

incorporated herein for the purpose of alleging forfeiture to the United States of certain property 

in which the defendants, ROBERT SHAPIRO, DANE ROSEMAN, a/k/a "Dayne Roseman," 

and IV AN ACEVEDO, have an interest. 

2. Upon conviction of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341, 1343 

and/or 1349, as alleged in this Indictment, the defendants, ROBERT SHAPIRO, DANE 

ROSEMAN, a/k/a "Dayne Roseman," and IV AN ACEVEDO, shall each forfeit to the United 

States, any property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to 

such violations, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981 (a)(l )(C), which is made 

applicable by Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c). 

3. Upon conviction of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956, as 

alleged in this Indictment, the defendant, ROBERT SHAPIRO, shall forfeit to the United States, l r r 
f 
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any property, real or personal, involved in such violation, and any property traceable to such 

property, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(l). 

4. Upon conviction of a violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7201, as 

alleged in this Indictment, the defendant, ROBERT SHAPIRO, shall forfeit to the United States, 

any taxable articles, raw materials, equipment, packages, and conveyances as defined in Title 26, 

United States Code, Section 7301, pursuant to Title 26, United States Code, Section 7301, which 

is made criminally applicable by Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461 ( c ). 

5. The property subject to forfeiture includes, but is not limited to: 

(i) A sum equal in value to the proceeds traceable to the fraudulent scheme 

alleged in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341, 1343, and 1349, the property 

involved in the violations of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956 alleged in the Indictment, 

and the taxable articles, raw materials, equipment, packages, and conveyances defined in Title 26, 

United States Code, Section 7301, which is approximately $1.3 billion in U.S. currency and which 

may be sought as a forfeiture money judgment; 

(ii) All assets on deposit in account number 4040774877 at Alpine Bank, held 

in the name of Carbondale Basalt Owners LLC; 

(iii) All assets on deposit in account number 8900003424 at Alpine Bank, held 

in the name ofDavana Sherman Oaks Owners LLC; 

(iv) All assets on deposit in account number 8970196989 at Alpine Bank, held 

in the name of Midland Loop Enterprises LLC; 

(v) All assets on deposit in account number 36044043514 at Capital One Bank, 

held in the name of Jeri Shapiro; 

(vi) All assets on deposit in account number 80-27009771 at East West Bank, I 
f 
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held in the name of Davana Primrose Ventures LLC; 

(vii) All assets on deposit in account number 20-27007984 at East West Bank, 

held in the name of Jeri L Shapiro; 

(viii) All assets on deposit in account number 80-27010068 at East West Bank, 

held in the name of Reliance Marketing Solutions LLC; 

(ix) All assets on deposit in account number 80-27010381 at East West Bank, 

held in the name of Settlement Depot LLC; 

(x) All assets on deposit in account number X96-267462 at Fidelity Cash 

Management, held in the name of Jeri Shapiro; 

(xi) All assets on deposit in account number 197148628 at Regions Bank, held 

in the name of Commercial Bridge Lenders LLC; 

(xii) All assets on deposit in account number 2010131932 at Timberline Bank, 

held in the name of Golden Mesa Ventures LLC; 

(xiii) All assets on deposit in account number 2010131940 at Timberline Bank, 

held in the name of Golden Primrose Ventures LLC; 

(xiv) All assets on deposit in account number 157514954443 at US Bank, held in 

the name of Jeri Shapiro; 

(xv) One (1) 18-karat, white gold, bangle bracelet, with 550 round diamonds 

(12.50 carats) and 1,434 black diamonds (24.92 carats); 

(xvi) One (1) pair of 18-karat, white gold, drop earrings, with 1,344 round-cut 

diamonds (13.80 carats); 

(xvii) One (1) pair of 18-karat, white gold, button earrings, with 162 round 

diamonds (13.89 carats); 
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(xviii) One (1) pair of 18-karat, white gold, drop earrings with 99 yellow sapphires 

(1.10 carats), 117 tsavorites (1.18 carats), 125 blue sapphires (1.38 carats), 124 blue diamonds 

(1.36 carats), 120 amethysts (1.24 carats), 120 pink sapphires (1.18 carats), and 125 orange 

sapphires (1.26 carats); 

(xix) One (1) pair of 18-karat, white gold, drop earrings with 22 emeralds (35.53 

carats) and round-cut diamonds (7.18 carats); 

(xx) One (1) pair of 18-karat, rose gold, golden pearl earrings with round-cut 

diamonds (.39 carat); 

(xxi) One (1) pair of 18-karat, rose gold, drop earrings with round-cut diamonds 

( .62 carat); 

(xxii) One (1) pair of 18-karat, rose gold, drop earrings with rubies (38.90 carats); 

(xxiii) One (1) emerald and diamond ring; 

(xxiv) One (1) platinum ring with certified Colombia emerald-cut emerald (9.54 

carats), eight trapezoid-cut diamonds (2.09 carats), and 166 round-cut diamonds (1.42 carats); 

(xxv) One (1) pair of 18-karat, white gold earrings with multi-color pearls (11.8-

15.5mm) and round-cut diamonds (.98 carat); 

(xxvi) One (1) platinum ring with oval-cut ruby (10.91 carats), two trapezoid 

diamonds (l.19 carats), and 70 round-cut diamonds (2.08 carats); 

(xxvii) One (1) 18-karat, rose gold, bangle bracelet with round diamonds (1.50 

carats); 

(xxviii) One (1) 18-karat, white gold, bangle bracelet with round diamonds (1.5 

carats); 

(xxix) One (1) pair of 14-karat, white gold, drop earrings with two black diamonds 
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(61.81 carats), two icy grey diamonds (23.92 carats), two rose-cut diamonds (.36 carat), and 266 

round diamonds (1.63 carats); 

(xxx) One (1) 18-karat, yellow gold ring with 13 radiant-cut diamonds (13.83 

carats); and 

(xxxi) One (1) 1969 Mercury convertible, bearing Vehicle Identification Number 

("VIN") 9F92M56591 l. 

6. If any property subject to forfeiture, as a result of any act or omission of a defendant, 

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence, 

b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party, 

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court, 

d. has been substantially diminished in value, or 

e. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without 

difficulty, 

the United States shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property under the provisions of Title 

21, United States Code, Section 853(p ), as incorporated by Title 18, United States Code, Section 

982(b )(1) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461 ( c ). 
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AJI pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Sections 98l(a)(l)(C), 982(a)(l) and Title 26, 

United States Code, Section 720 l , and the procedures set forth at Title 21, United States Code, 

Section 853, as incorporated by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b)( l ) and Title 28, 

United States Code, Section 2461(c). /}I 
A TR utin_J! 

\~ tv~le-
ARIA.NAFAJARDO ORSHAN l 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY ' . 

I AEL R. SHER WIN 
A JSTANT UNITED ST A TES A TTO 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

CERTIFICATE OF TRIAL ATTORNEY* 
ROBERT SHAPIRO, et al., 

Superseding Case Information: 
Defendants. 

New defendant(s) Yes 
Number of new defendants 
Total number of counts 

Court Division: (Select One) 
-1 Miami Key West 

FTL WPB FTP 

No 

I. I have carefully considered the allegations of the indictment, the number of defendants, the number of 
probable witnesses and the legal complexities of the Indictment/Information attached hereto. 

2. I am aware that the information supplied on this statement will be relied upon by the Judges of this 
Court in setting their calendars and scheduling criminal trials under the mandate of the Speedy Trial 
Act, Title 28 U.S.C. Section 3161. 

3. Interpreter: (Yes or No) No 
List language and/or dialect 

4. This case will take _lL days for the parties to try. 

5. Please check appropriate category and type of offense listed below: 

(Check only one) (Check only one) 

I 0 to 5 days Petty 
II 6 to 10 days Minor 
III 11 to 20 days Misdem. 
IV 21to60 days I Felony I 

v 61 days and over 

6. Has this case previously been filed in this District Court? (Yes or No) 
If yes: Judge Case No. 

No 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

(Attach copy of dispositive order) 
Has a complaint been filed in this matter? (Yes or No) 
If yes: Magistrate Case No. 
Related miscellaneous numbers: 
Defendant(s) in federal custody as of 
Defendant(s) in state custody as of 
Rule 20 from the District of 

Is this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No) 

No 

7. Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office 
prior to August 9, 2013 (Mag. Judge Alicia 0. Valle)? Yes No / 

8. Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Northern Region U.S. Attorney's Office 
prior to August 8, 2014 (Mag. Judge Shaniek Maynard)? Yes No ' 

*Penalty Sheet(s) attached 

ITED STATES ATTORNEY 

Florida Bar No.: 157971 

REV 8/13120 18 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

PENAL TY SHEET 

Defendant's Name: ROBERT SHAPIRO 

Count# 1: 

Conspiracy to Commit Mail and Wire Fraud 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349 

*Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) Years' Imprisonment 

Counts # 2-6: 

Mail Fraud 

Title 18 United States Code Section 1341 

*Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) Years' Imprisonment as to Each Count 

Counts# 7-8: 

Wire Fraud 

Title 18 United States Code Section 1343 

*Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) Years' Imprisonment as to Each Count 

Count# 9: 

Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering 

Title 18, United States Code, Section l 956(h) 

*Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) Years' Imprisonment 

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution, 
special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable. 
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Defendant's Name: ROBERT SHAPIRO 

Count# 10: 

Evasion of Payment of Federal Income Taxes 

Title 26 United States Code Section 7201 

*Max. Penalty: Five (5) Years' Imprisonment 

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution, 
special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

PENAL TY SHEET 

Defendant's Name: DANE ROSEMAN, a/k/a "Dayne Roseman" 

Count# 1: 

Conspiracy to Commit Mail and Wire Fraud 

Title 18 United States Code Section 1349 

*Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) Years' Imprisonment 

Counts# 3-6: 

Mail Fraud 

Title 18 United States Code Section 1341 

*Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) Years' Imprisonment 

Counts# 7-8: 

Wire Fraud 

Title 18 United States Code Section 1343 

*Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) Years' Imprisonment 

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution, 
special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable. 

I 
' f 

I 
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I 

l 

UNITED ST ATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

PENAL TY SHEET 

Defendant's Name: IV AN ACEVEDO 

Count# 1: 

Conspiracy to Commit Mail and Wire Fraud 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349 

*Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) Years' Imprisonment 

Count# 2: 

Mail Fraud 

Title 18 United States Code Section 1341 

*Max. Penalty: Twenty (20) Years' Imprisonment 

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution, 
special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable. 
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IJM TED STATES DISTRICT COG T
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

!

CASE NO. 19-CR-20178-CM A

UM TED STATES OF AM ERICA

ROBERT SH APIRO ,

Defendant.

/
. 

'

PLEA AGREEM ENT

The United States Attomey's Oftke for the Southem District of Florida (Gçthis Office''l and

Robert Shapiro (hereinafter referred to as the trefendanf') enter into the following agreement:

The Defepdant agrees to plead guilty to Cotmts 1 and 10 of the Indictment. Cotmt

1 charges the Defendant with conspiracy to commit mail fraud and wire fraud, in violation of Title

18, United States Code, Section 1349. Count 10 charges the Defendant with evasion of payment

of federal income taxes, in violation of Title 26, Untted States Uode, Section 7201. The Defendant

acknowledges that he has read a11 of the charges against llim contained in the Indictment and that

the charges have been fully explained to him by his attorney.

This Oflice agrees to seek dismissal of Counts 2 thiough 9 of the Indictment, as to

tM s Defendant, at sentencing.

3. The Defendant is aware that the sentence willbe imposed by the Cotlrt after

considezing the advisory Federal Sentencing Guidelines and Policy Statements (hereinafter
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çGsentencing Guidelines''). The Defendant ackno4ledges and tmderstands that the Court will

compute an advisory sentence tmder the Sentencing Guidilines and that the applicable guidelines

will be determined by the Court relying in part on the results of a pre-sentence investigation by the

Court's probation oflke, which investigation will commence after the guilty plea has been entered.

The Defendant is also aware that, tmder certain circllmstances, the Court may depart 9om the

advisory sentencing guideline range that it has computed, and may raise or lower that advisory

sentence tmder the Sentencing Guidelines. The Defendant is f'urther aware and understands that

the Court is required to consider the advisory guideline range determined tmder the Sentencing

Guidelines, but is not botmd to impose a sentence witllin that advisory range; the Court is permitted

to tailor the ultimate sentence in light of other statutory concerns, and such sentence may be either

more severe or less severe than the Sentencing Guidelines' advisory range. Knowing these facts,

the Defendant understands and acknowledges that the Court hms theauthority to impose any

sentence within and up to the statutory maximllm authodzed by 1aw for the offensels) identified

in paragraph 1 and that the Defendant may not withdraw the plea solely as a result of the sentence

imposed.

4.

&

The Defendant also tmderstands and acknowledges that the Court may impose a

stamtory maximtlm term of impdsonment of up to twenty (20) years as to Count 1, and up to fve

(5) years as to Cotmt 10. These sentences of imprisonment may be run consecutively,'for a total

sentence of 25 years' impzisonment. In addition to any period of impdsonment the Court may also

impose a period of supervised release of up to three (3) years to commence at the conclusion of

the period of imprisqnment, as to each count. In addition to aterm of imprisonment and supervised

zrelease, as to Cotmt 1, the Court may impose a fine of up to the greater of $250,000, pttrsuant to
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18 U.S.C. j 3571(a)(3), or twice the pecllniary gain or loss caused by the offense, ptlrsuant to 18
y 

'

U.S.C. j 3571(d), and may order forfeittlre and restitution. As to Cbtmt 10, the Court may impose

a fine of up to $100,000 and costs of prosecution, and may order forfeimre and restittztion.

'l'he Defendant further tmderstands and qcknowledgçs that, in addition to any
' # .

sentence imposed undey paragraph 4 of this agreement, a special assessment in the nmolmt of

$100.00 will be imposed as to each cotmt, for a total of $200.00. The Defendant agrees that any

special assessment imposed shall be paid at the time of sentencing. If the Defendant is financially

tmable to pay the special assessment, the Defendant agrees to present evidence to tMs Office mld

. the Court at the time of sentenèing as to the reasons for the Defendant's failtlre to pay.

6. Tllis Office reserves the right to inform the Court and the probation office of all

facts pertinentto the sentencing process, including all relevmlt information conceming the offenses

committed, whether charged or not, as well as concerning the Defendant and the Defendant's

backgrotmd. Subject only to the express tenns of any agreed-upon sentencing recommendations

contained in this.apeement, this Oftice further reserves the right to make any recommendation as

to the quality and quantity of plnishment.

7. The Defendant shallprovide the Probation Office and counsel for the Uàited States

with a 111, complete and accurate personal financial statemeht within fortpfive (45) days of

adjudication of guilt as contemplated in this Plea Agreement. If the Defendant provides

incomplete or tmtrtzthful statements in his personal financial statement, or fails to timely provide

llis personal financial statement, such action shall be deemed a material breach of tllis Plea

Ap eement and the United States shall be free to pursue al1 appropriate charges against the

oefendant notwithstanding any agreements to forbear rrom bringing additional chmves, or to

#
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dismiss counts, otherwise set forth in this Plea Agreement.

Tltis Offke agrees that it will recommend at sentencing that the Court reduce by

'two levels the sentencing guideline level applicable to the Defendant's offense, pursuant to Section

3E1.1(a) of the Sentencing Guidelines, based upon the Defendant's recognition and aftsrmative

and timely acceptance of personal responsibility. If at the time of sentencing the Defendant's

offense level is determined to be 16 or greater, this Office will tile a motion requesting an

additional one level decrease pursuant to Section 3E1.1(b) of the Sentencing Guidelines, stating

that the Defendant has assisted authorities in the hwestigation or prosecution of the Defendant's

own misconduct by timely notifying authorities of the Defendant's intention to enter a plea of

guilty, thereby permitting the government to avoid prepadng for trial and pennitting the

government and the Court to allocate their resources eftkiently. Tllis Ofsce, however, will not be

required to make tllis motion and sentencing recommendation if the Defendant: (a) fails or refuses

to make a fu11, accuzate and complete disclosme to the probation office of the circllmstnnces

surrounding the relevant offense conduct and the Defendant's present fnancial condition; (b) is

found to have misrepresented facts to the government pdor to enteting into this plea agreement;

or (c) commits any misconduct after entering into tllis plea agreement, including but not limited to

committing a state or federal offense, violating any term of release, or mnking false statements or

misrepresentations to any governmental entity or oflicial.

à

The Defendant is aware that the sentence has not yet been detennined by the Court.

The Defendant is also aware that any estimate of the probable sentencing range or sentence that

the defendant m ay receive, whether that estimate comes 9om  the Defendant's attorney, tllis Oflk e,

or the probation offce, is a prediction, not a promise, and is not binding on this Oflke, the
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probation oftke or the Court. The defendant understands further that any recommendation that

this Office makes to the Court as to sèntepcing, whether ptlrsuant to tMs agreement or otherwise,

is not binding on the Court and the Court may disregard the recommendation in its entirety. The

defendant understands and acknowledges, as previously acknowledged in paragraph 3 above, that

the Defendmlt may not withdraw llis plea based upon the Court's decision not to accept a

sentencing recommendation made by the Defendant, tllis Oftke, or a recommçndation made

jointly by the Defendlt and tlzis Office.

10. At the time of sentencing, the Defendant will be 9ee to argue for a vadance or

departure from the advisory sentencing guidelines range, as deemed appropriate by his cotmsel.

This Office will be 9ee to seek any sentence, including a sentence witiin the advisory sentencing
. !

guidelines range, and up to the statutory maxlmum of twenty five (25) years' imprisonment.

11. This Office and the Defendant agree that, although not binding on the probation

office or the Court, they will jointly recommend that the Court màke the following fmdings and

conclusions as to the sentence to be imposed:

V

(a) Base Offense Level:

())

The Defendant's base offense level is seven (7), per U.S.S.G. j 2B1.1(a)(1);

Loss:

The Government asserts that the Defendant's offense level shall be increased by

tlzirty (30) levels ptlrsuant to U.S.S.G. j 2B1.1(b)(1)(O) because the actual loss

caused to investors by the Defendant's offense conduct was more thm1

approximately $250,000,000, but less than approximately $550,000,000;

The Defendant reserves the l'ight to contest the loss am otmt at sentencing, and
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asserts that the Defendant's offense level shall be increased by twenty-two (22)

levels ptlrsuant to U.S.S.G. j 2B1.1(b)(1)(L) because the Defendant's gain that

resulted from the offense was more than $25,000,000, but less than $65,000,000;

(c) Mass Marketing/substantial Financial Hardship:

The Defendant's offense level shall be increased by at least two (2) levels, ptlrsuant

to U.S.S.G. j 2B1.1(b)(2)(A), because the offense involved ten or more victims,

and was committed through mass marketing, and/or resulted in substantial financial

hardstlip to one or more victims.

Defendanths.offense. level.may instead be increased by fotlr (4) levels, pursuant to
1

U.S.S.G. j 2B1.1(b)(2)(B), if the offense resulted in substantial fmancial hardship

to 5 or more victims; and up to sik (6) levels, pursuantto U.S.S.G. . j 2B1.1@)(2)(C),

if the offense resulted in substantial financial hardship to 25 or more victims;

This Office reserves the dght to argue that the

S
(d) Violation of Any Prior Order:

The Defendant's offense level shall be increased by two (2) levels ptlrsuant to

U.S;S.G. j 2B1.1(b)(9)(C), becau,se the offense involved a violation of any prior,

specific judicial or administrative order, injtmction, decree, or process not

addressed elsewhere in the guidelines;

(e) Sophisticated Means:

The Defendant's offense level shall be increased by t'Wo (2) levels ptlrsuant to

U.S.S.G. j 2B1.1(b)(10)(C) because the offense hwolved sophisticated means, and

the Defendant intentionally engaged irl or caused the conduct constituting

sophisticated means;
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(f) Role Enhancement - Orcanizer/Leader:

The Defendant's offense level shall be increased by four (4) levels ptzrsuant to

U.S.S.G. j 3B1.1(a), as the Defendant was at'l organizer or leader of a criminal

activity that involved five or more participants or was otherwise extensive; and

(g) Vulnerable Victims:

The United States reserves the right to argue that Defendant's offense level shall be

increased by two (2) levéls ptlrsuant to U.S.S.G. j 3A1.1(b)(1), as the Defendant

knew, or should have known, that a victim of the offense was a vulnerable victim.

.T11is Oftke . and the Defendant have not reached any agreement as to the

applicability or non-applicability of any specific offense characteristics or Chapter 3 adjustments

other than as set forth in paragraphs 8 and 1 1 of this agreement.

13. The Defendant agrees, irl an individual and any other capacity, to forfeit to the

United States, vollmtarily and immediately, a11 rights, title, and interest, ptlrsuant to 18 U.S.C. j

981(a)(1)(C), to any property, real or personal, which constimtes or is dedved from proceeds

traceable to the offense of conviction. In addition, the Defendant apees to forfeiture of substimte

property ptlrsuant to 21 U.S.C. j 853(19. The property subject to forfeiture includes, but is not

limited to:

a.

States currency, wllich sllm represents. the value of the property subject to forlkiture, and in any

event, not less than the amotmt of loss determined by the Court at sçntencing;

b. directly forfeitable property, including, but not limited to:

a forfeiture money judgment in at least the sllm of $100 million in Urtited

S

(i) A11 assets on deposit in accolmt number 4040774877 at Alpine Bnnk, held

7
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in the name of Carbondale Basalt Owners LLC;

(ii) A11 assets on deposit in accolmt number 8900003424 at Alpine Bnnk, held

in the name of Davana Sherman Oaks Owners LLC;

(iii) A11 assets on deposit in accotmt nllmber 8970196989 at Alpine Bnnk, held

in the name of M idland Loop Enterprises LLC;

(iv) Ai1 assets on deposit in account number 36044043514 at Capital One Bnnk,

held in the nnme of Jeri Shapiro;

(v) A11 assets on deposit in account nllmber 80-27009771 at East West Bnnk,

held in the nmne of Davana Pdmrose Ventures LLC;

(vi) Al1 assets on deposit in accotmt nllmber 20-27007984 at East West Bnnk,

held in the nnme of Jeri L Shapiro;

(vii) A1l assets on deposit in accotmt nllmber 80-27010068 at East West Bnnk,

held in the name of Reliance M arketing Solutions LLC;

(viii) A11 assets on deposit i.n account nllmber 80-27010381 at East West Bnnk,

held in the name of Settlem ent Depot LLC;

(ix) A1l assets on deposit in accotmt nllmber X96-267462 at Fidelity Cash

M anagement, held in the name of Jeri Shapiro;

(x) A11 assets on deposit in accotmt nllmber 197148628 at Regions Bnnk, held

in the name of Commercial Bridge Lenders LLC;

(xi) Al1 assets on deposit in accotmt nllmber 2010131932 at Timberline Bnnk,

held in the name of Golden Mesa Ventures LLC;

(xii) All assets on deposit in accotmt mlmber 2010131940 at Timberline Bnnk,

8
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held in the name of Golden Pdmrose Ventures LLC;

(xiii) All assetg on deposit in account nllmber 157514954443 at US Bank, held in

the nnme of Jed Shapiro',

(xiv) One (1) l8-karat, white gold, bangle bracelet, with 550 round dinmonds

(12.50 carats) and 1,434 black dinmonds (24.92 carats);

(xv) One (1) pair of l8-karai, wllite gold, drop eanings, with 1,344 round-cut

dinmonds (13.80 caratsl;
/

(xvi) One (1) pair of l8-karat, wlliie gold, button eanings, with 162 round

dinmonds (13.89 caratsl;

(llArii) One (1) pair of l8-karat, wllite gold, drop ennings with 99 yellow sapphires

(1.10 carats), 117 tsavorites (1.18 carats), 125 blue sapphires (1.38 carats), 124 blue diamondâ

(1.36 carats), 120 amethysts (1.24 carats), 120 pink sapphires (1.18 carats), and 125 orange

sap/llires (1.26 carats);

(xviii) One (1) pair of l8-karat, white gold, drop earrings with 22 emeralds (35.53

carats) arid round-cut diamonds (7.18 caratsl;

(xLx) One (1) pair of l8-karat, rose gold, golden pead ennings with round-cut

diamonds (.39 carat);

(u) Oné (J) pair of l8-karat, rose gold, drop ennings with round-cut dinmonds

(.62 carat);

(u i) One (1) pair of l8-karat, rose gold, drop earrings with rubies (38.90 carats);

(xxii) One (1) emerald and dinmond ring;

'txxiii) One (1) platinllm ring with certified Colombia emerald-cut emerald (9.54

9
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carats), eight t'rapezoid-cut dinmonds (2.09 carats), and 166 rotmd-cut dinmonds (1.42 carats);

(u iv) ..One (1) pair of l8-karat, white gold ennings with multi-color pearls (11.8-

15.5mm) and rotmd-cut dinmonds (.98 carat);

(u v) One (1) platinllm dng with oval-cut ruby (10.91 carats), two trapezoid

dinmonds (1.19 carats), and 70 rotmd-cut dinmonds (2.08 carats);

(u vi) One (1) l8-karat, rose gold, bangle bracelet with rotmd dinmonds (1.50

caratsl;

(u vii) One (1) l8-karat, white gold, bangle bracelet with rotmd dinmonds (1.5

caratsl;

(u viii) One (1) pair of l4-karat, wllite gold, drop earrings withtwo black dinmonds

JV(61.81 carats), two icy grey diamonds (23.92 carats), 'two rose-cut diamonds (.36 carat), and 266
rotmd dinmonds (1.63 carats);

(u ix) One (1) l8-karat, yellow gold ring with 13 radiant-cut dinmonds (13.83

caratsl; mld

(u x) One (1) 1969 Mercury convertible, beadng Vehicle Identiscation Nllmber

(G:VlN'') 9F92M565911.

(i)

(ii) A cashier's check for $250,000 9om East West Bnnk;

substitute property, including, but not limited to:

The wine collection stored at 4030 Longridge;

(iii) A Mortgage Payment made out of East W est Bnnk of $399,867.67;

(iv) Al1 assets on deposit in account nllmber 226157004 at Regions

Bnnk, held in the name of Lionshare Lending LLC; and

10

Case 1:19-cr-20178-CMA   Document 139   Entered on FLSD Docket 08/07/2019   Page 10 of 18Case 17-12560-BLS    Doc 3869-4    Filed 10/07/19    Page 11 of 19



(vi) Any outstanding balance of credits in .TP Morgan Chase and Citicard

credit cards.

14. The Defendant farther agrees that forfeiture is independent of any assessment, fine,

cost, restitution, or penalty that may be imposed by the Court. The Defendant knowingly and

voluntadly agrees to waive a11 constitm ional, legal, and equitable defenses to the forfeiture,

including excessive fines tmder the Eighth Am endment to the United States Constitution. In

. 
'

addition, the Defendant agrees to waive': any applicable time lipits for administrative or judicial

forfeiture proceedings, the requirements of Fed. R. Crim. P. 32.2 and 43(a), and any appeal of the

forfeiture.

15. The Defendant also agrees to fully and truthflllly disclose the existence, nature and Xl
ocation of a11 assets in which the Dçfendant has or had any direct or indirect fm ancial interest or

èontw l, and any mssets involved in the offense of conviction. The Defendant also agrees to take

a11 steps requested by the Urlited States for the recovery and forfeiture of a11 assets identified by

the United States as subject to forfeittlre.This includes, but is not limited to, ihe timely delivery

upon request of a11 necessary and appropriate docllmentation to deliver goöd and m arketable title,

consenting to a11 orders of forfeiture, and not contesting or impeding in any way with any criminal,

civil or administrative forfeiture proceeding concerning the forfeiture.

16. In furtherance of the satisfaction of a forfeiture money judgment entered by the

Cotlrt in this case, the Defendant agrees to the following:

a. subrnit a Vmancial statement to this Office upon request, withinaten

(10) calendar days 9om the request;

11
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maintain a11 assets valued in excess of $10,000, and not sell, hide,

waste, encllmber, destroy, or otherwise devalue such assets without

prior approval of the United States;

cooperate fully in. the investigation arld the identitk ation of assets,

including liquidating assets, meeting with representatives of the

United States, and providing any docllmentation requested;

notify, within 30 days, the Clerk of the Cottrt for the Southem

Distdct of Florida and this Oflke of: (i) any change of nnme,

. . residence, or mailing address, and (ii) any material change in

economic circllm stances.

d.

17. The Defendant further understands that providing false or incomplete information

k' zi 11 false statements or representations or mnkingabout assets, concealing assets, mn 1ng mate a y ,

or using false m itings or docllments pertaining to assets, tnking anyiction that would impede the

fqrfeiture öf assets, or failing to cooperate fully in the hwestigation and identification of assets

may be used as a basis for: (i) separate prosecution, including, tmder 18 U.S.C. j 1001; or (ii)

recommendation of a denial of a reduction for acceptance of responsibility ptlrsuant to the United

States Sentencing Guidelines j 3EI.I. The Defendant further agrees that forfeiture is independent

of any assessments, fines, costs, restitution orders, or any other penalty that may be imposed by

the Court.

y

The Defendant acknowledges that because the pffenses of conviction occurred after

Apdl 24, 1996, restitution is mandatory without regard to the Defendmlt's ability to pay and that

12

Case 1:19-cr-20178-CMA   Document 139   Entered on FLSD Docket 08/07/2019   Page 12 of 18Case 17-12560-BLS    Doc 3869-4    Filed 10/07/19    Page 13 of 19



the Court must order the Defendant to pay restitution for the fu11 loss caused by his cdminal

conduct pusuant to 18 U.S.C. j 3663A.

19. The Defendant is awarb that Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742 and Title

28, United States Code, Section 1291 aflbrd him the dght to appeal the sentènce imposed in this

case. Aclcnowledging this, in exchange ?or the undertaldngs made V the Unitçd States in tllis plea

agreement, the Defendant hereby waives a11 rights conferred by Sections 3742 and 1291 to appeal

any sentence imposed, including any forfeiture or restitm ion ordered, or to appeal the mnpner in

which the sentence was imposed, lmless the sentence exceeds the maximum penuitted by statute

$

or is the result of an upward departure and/or upward vadance f'rom the advisory guideline range

that the Court establishes at sentencihg. The Defendant further tmderstands that nothing in this

agreemeùt shall affect the government's zight and/or duty to appeal as set forth in Titll 18, Urlited

States Code, Section 3742(19 and Title 28, United States Code, Section 1291. However, if the

United States appeals the Defendant's sentence ptlrsuant to Sections 3742(b) atld/or 1291, the

Defendant shall be released from the above waiver of appellate rights. By signin' g this agreement,

the Defendant acknowledges that the Defendant has discussed the appeal waiver set forth in this

agreement with the Defendant's attorney. The Defendant further agreeg, together with this Office,

to request that the Court enter a specific finding that the Defendant's waiver of llis dght to appeal

the sentence to be imposed in this case was knowing and voltmtary.

&

h

R'he Defendant agrees to fully cooperate w1111 the Intemal Revenue Service (çû1RS'')

in its civil exnmination, determination, assessment, and collection of income taxes related to the

Defendant's personal income tax returns for the tax years 2000 through 2019, and any related

corpoiate/entity tax rettlrns, and further ap ees not to conceal, transfer, or dissipate fhnds or

13
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property that could be used to satisfy such taxes, penalties, and interest. The Defendant agrees to

provide the IRS any documentation in the Defendant's possession and/or control requested by the

IRS in connection 'with its civil exnmination, determination, assessment, and collection of such

income taxes prior to sentencing. The Defendant further knowingly and voltmtarily agrees to

waive any statute of limitations with respect to assessment and collection of the Defendant's

individual and corporate/entity tax liabilities concerning tax years 2000 through 2019.

21. Nothing in tllis agreement shall limit the IR.S in its civil determination, assessment,

and collection of any taxes, interest, and/or penalties that the Defendant may owe.

The Defendant agrees that the tmpaid taxes that remain due and owing to the m S,

excluding interest and penalties, for his personal income taxes for the tax years 2000 through 2019

will be payable to the IRS as restitution. The amolmt due and owing is more than at lemst &
approximately $6,061,134, with the exact nmotmt to be detennined pdor to sentencing.

The Defendant awees that any statements made by the Defendant to the lRS and/or

in this agreement shall be admissible against the Defendant without any limitation in any civil or

criminal proceeding and the Defendant stipulates to the authenticity and admissibility, in any civil

or criminal proceeding, of any documentation provided by the Defendant to the IRS. The

Defendant hereby Waives any protection afforded by Rule 410 of the Federal Rules of Evidence

and Rule 1149 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure with regard to any such statements and

docllmentation. In the event that the Defendant withdraws from tllis apeement prior to pleading

guilty and/or fails to fully comply with any of the terms of this plea agreem ent, the United States

* 11, at its option, be released âom its obligations tmder tllis agreement, but under no circllmstances

14
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. shall the Defendant be released 9om the agreements and waivers made by thé Defendant in thiq
.. . .. . . 

'

and the preceding three pazagraphs.

Defendant agrees that if he fails to comply with any of the provisions pf tllij plea

./

agreement, including the failtlre to tender it to the Court, makes false or misleading statements

before the Court or to any agents of the United States, commits any further crimes, or attempts to

withdraw the plea (prior to or after pleading guilty to the charges identified in paragraph one (1)

above), this Office will have the right to characterize such conduct as a breach of this plea

agreement. In the eveni of such a breach: (a) thfs Office will be free 9om its obligations under the

1ea apeement and irther may take whateyer position it believes appropriate as to the sentenceP

and the conditions of the Defendant's release (for exnmple, should the Defendant commit any

conduct after the date of this plea agreement that would form the basis for an increase in the

Defendant's offense level orjustify an upward departure - examples of which include but are not

limited to, obstruction of justice, failure to appear for a court proceeding, cdminal conduct while

pending sentencing, and false statements to 1aw entbrcement agents, the Probation Ofûcer, or

Court - this Office is free under this agreement to seek an increase in the offense level based on

that post-agreement conduct); ('b) the Defendant will not have the right to withdraw the guilty plea;

(c) the Defendant shall be fully subject to cri. minal prosecution for any other cdmes which he has

committed or might commit, if any, including perjury and obstnzction of justice; and (d) the

Defendant waives any protections afforded by Section IB 1.8(a) of the Sentencing Guidelines, Rule

11 of the Federal Rules of Cdminal Procedtlre and Rule 410 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, and

this Oflice will be free to use against the Defendant, directly and indirectly, in any criminal or civil

proceeding any of the infonnation, statements, and materials provided by him pursuant to tllis plea

V

15
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agreement, including offedng into evidence or otherwise using the attached Stipulated Facm al

Proffer at a trial as to the remaining counts of the Indictment, or on other charges.

In exchange for the tmdertalcings herein, this Office agrees to enter into a non-

prosecution agreement with the Defendant's wife, Jed Shapiro (t:M s. Shapiro'). A copy of the

non-prosecution apeement for M s. Shapiro has been provided to the Defendant and his counsel

pdor to the change of plea henring. The Defendant acknowledges and apees that he has reviewed

and discussed the terms of the non-prosecution agreement of llis wife, M s. Shapiro, with his

attorney. Specitkally, the Defendant tmderstands that, in the non-prosecution agreement:

* Tllis Office is agreeing not to prosecute M s. Shapiro for federal cdminal tax offenses for

tax yers 2013 through 2018 tmder Title 26 of the United States Code and/or tmder Title

18 of the Urlited States Code, insofar as any such offenses may adse out of her individual

federal income tax rettm ls for those years or the corporate retum s of her employer for
those years, the çGW oodbridge Group of Compaaies,''l or any other business or commercial

%

l For the purposes of this agreement, the W oodbddge Group of Compnnies includes the

following entities:

(a) Woodbridge Group of Companies, LLC td/b/a Woodbridge Wealth)
(çGWoodbridge'') was a Sherman Oaks, Californiaubased finmlcial services company formed in
2014;

(b) Woodbridge Mortgage Investment Fund 1, LLC, Woodbddge M ortgage
Investment Ftmd 2, LLC, W oodbridge M ortgage Investment Fund 3, LLC, W oodbddge M ortgage

Investment Ftmd 3A, LLC, W oodbridge M ortgage Investment Fund 4, LLC, W oodbridge
Commercial Bddge Loan Fund 1, LLC, and W oodbddge Commercial Bridge Loan Fund 2, LLC

(collectively, çGWoodbddge Ftmd Companies'') were Delaware companies formed between 2010
and 2015, al1 of which were created to act on behalf of W oodbzidge;

(c) WMF Management, LLC (çGWM F'') was a California company formed in 2012 mld
createb to act on behalf of Woodbridge;

' k

(d) Woodbddge Structured Ftmding, LLC, a/k/a Woodbddge Structured Funding of
Floridaa LLC, (1GW SF'') wys a Delaware company formed in 2009 and created to act on behalf of
W oodbddge;

16
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entity in wilich she has an ownersllip interest or that she operated on behalf of her husband,
the Defendant, for his use and benefit.z ' ' ' ' '' '''= -' ' : ' ' '' - - -- '' -' -- --'''' '' '-' ' ''' ''--':- ' ' ' .-

@ This Office is further agreeing not to prosecute M s. Shapiro for any other federal criminal
fraud, money laundeting, and tax offenses through the date of tllis plea agreement related

to the W oodbridge Group of Companies and the additional entities nnmed herein, and a11

related fmancial and business transactions, including but not limited to conduct committed
by the Defenéant and llis co-conspirators, as outlined in the Indiètment in this case.

* M s. Shapiro is agreeing to consent to the forfeiture of specifc assets and bnmk accotmts

identified by this Oftke.

* In the 'event that the Defendant at any time files a motion to withdraw from llis guilty plea
in tllis case, this Oftke will, at its option, be released from its obligations tmder the non-

prosecution agreement with M s. Shapiro, but under no circllmstances shall M s. Shapiro
Dbe released from her obligations tmder the non-prosecution agreement
. Furtherm ore, in

the event that: (a) Ms. Shapiro withdraws from the non-prosecution agreement; or (b) Ms.
Shapiro fails to fully comply with any of the term s of the non-prosecution ap eem ent;

and/or the Defendant fails to fully comply with any terms of tllis plea agreement, this
Offke * 11, at its option, be rele%ed from its obligations. under this plea agreement, as

(e) Woodbridge Realty of Colorado CGWoodbridge Realtf'l was a Colorado company
formed in 2014 and created to act on behalf of W oodbridge;

(9 Mercer Vine, Inc. (çtMercer Vine'') Fas a California coporation formed in 2014
and created to act on behalf of W oodbridge;

(g) Riverdale Ftm' ding, LLC (ttlliverdale'') was a Delaware corporation formed in 2012
and created to act on behqlf of W oodbddge; and

(h) RS Protection Trust (GIRS Trusf'l was created tmderNevada law irl 2013 and served
as a holding trust for the assets of W oodbddge, W M'F, W SF, and approximately two-hundred and

seventptwo (272) other W oodbridge associated Delaware and Colorado companies.

These entities include, but are not limited to: 3X A Chnrm LLC; Archway M asters

Construction LLC; Beem an Studio City LLC; Carbondale Basalt Owners LLC; Carbondale

Pdmrose Ventures; Commercial Bddge Lending; Davana Primrose Ventures LLC; Davana
Shermmz Oaks Owners LLC; 204 Derby Ave LLC; Direct Instlrance Source LLC; ln Trend Staging

LLC; Golden M esa Ventures LLC; Golden Prim rose Ventures LLC; JS Fnmily Trust; M esa Glen

Enterprises LLC; M idland Loop Enteiprises LLC; M oorpark Boca Funding LLC; Reliance

M arketing Solutions LLC; Riverdale Ftmding LLC; Schwartz M edia Buying Company LLC;
Seaview M oorpark Real Estate Investm ent LLC; Settlem ent Depot LLC; Sum mit Sherm an Oaks,

LLC; and Stover Real Estate Pnrtners LLC.

17
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well as tmder the non-prosecution agreement, but under no ckcumstances shall M s.
'în- ---= . . ..: .n'.-V '-éshapiro-be-reldased from her obligations under the'nonuprosdcutiçn-agreement.'f '' '' '

@ The non-prosecution apeement with M s. Shapiro shall only be binding on this Oflke, the
United States Attorney's Office for the Southem District of Florida, and does not bind any

other federal, state, local, o'r foreign prosecuting authority other than tllis Oftke. Nothing

in the non-prosecution agreement shall preclude the Internal Revenue Service (G:IRS'')
from commencing, continuing, or bringing civil tax proceedings of any kind and for àny

year with respect to M s. Shapiro or any other individual, corporation, or entity.

26. Tlzis is the entire plea agreement and understanding between tlzis Offce and the

Defendant. There are no other agreements, promises, representations or tmderstandings.

AIUANA FAJARDO ORSHAN

4#2cI9Date:

> 1 ED STATES ATTORN EY
HERN DISTY CT OF FLORIDA
e

By:
. 

'

R CRUZ '

LI H. M ILLER
A SSISTAN T UNITE TATES ATT EYS

SOUTHERN DIST T OF FLO A

By:

ROBERT SHAPIRO

DEFENDANT

eph jDate:
/' r

vyh NDate: WMBy:
RY WIGH O'QUINN, ESQ.
E GERSHONI, ESQ.
O SEL FOR ROBERT SHAPX O
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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
In re 
 
WOODBRIDGE GROUP OF 
COMPANIES, LLC, et al.,1  

                                       Remaining Debtors. 

 Chapter 11 
 
Case No. 17-12560 (BLS) 
 
(Jointly Administered) 
 
Ref. Docket No. ____ 
 

 
ORDER PURSUANT TO BANKRUPTCY RULE 2004 DIRECTING  

PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS AND MATERIALS  
AND APPEARANCE FOR ORAL EXAMINATION 

 
Upon consideration of Woodbridge Liquidation Trust’s Motion for an Order Pursuant to 

Bankruptcy Rule 2004 Directing Production of Documents and Materials (the “Motion”)2 and 

any responses thereto; and after a hearing on the Motion; and upon the record thereof; and after 

due deliberation thereon; and good and sufficient cause existing therefor, it is hereby 

ORDERED that:  

The Motion is granted as set forth herein. 

Jeri Shapiro is directed to produce all documents to the Liquidation Trust relating to the 

topics set forth on the Document Requests attached to the Motion as Exhibit A within thirty (30) 

days of entry of this Order and shall deliver such documents or other responses to the attention of 

John Morris, in the manner provided for in Exhibit A to the Motion. 

Mrs. Shapiro shall appear for oral examination regarding the topics set forth in the in 

Exhibit A to the Motion, such examination to take place at the offices of Pachulski Stang Ziehl & 

                                                 
1  The Remaining Debtors and the last four digits of their respective federal tax identification numbers are as follows: Woodbridge Group of 
Companies, LLC (3603) and Woodbridge Mortgage Investment Fund 1, LLC (0172).  The Remaining Debtors’ mailing address is 14140 Ventura 
Boulevard #302, Sherman Oaks, California 91423.   

2 Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Motion. 
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Jones LLP, 780 Third Avenue, 34th Floor, New York, NY 10017, or other location on a date set 

by Liquidation Trust’s counsel. 

The Liquidation Trust’s rights are reserved to request additional discovery and/or 

examination in connection with this matter, including, without limitation, requests based on any 

information that may be revealed as a result of the examination authorized pursuant to this Order. 

This Court retains jurisdiction to resolve any disputes arising under or related to this 

Order, including any discovery disputes that may arise between or among the parties, and to 

interpret, implement and enforce the provisions of this Order. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
In re 
 
WOODBRIDGE GROUP OF 
COMPANIES, LLC, et al.,1  

                                       Remaining Debtors. 

 Chapter 11 
 
Case No. 17-12560 (BLS) 
 
(Jointly Administered) 
 
 

 
CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH LOCAL RULE 2004-1 IN 

CONNECTION WITH THE OFFICIAL LIQUIDATION TRUST OF UNSECURED 
CREDITORS’ MOTION FOR AN ORDER PURSUANT TO BANKRUPTCY 

RULE 2004 DIRECTING PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS AND MATERIALS 
 

I, Colin R. Robinson, hereby certify as follows:   

1. I submit this certification as counsel to the Woodbridge Liquidation Trust 

(the “Liquidation Trust”), formed pursuant to the confirmed and effective First Amended Joint 

Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation of Woodbridge Group of Companies, LLC and its Affiliated 

Debtors [Docket No. 2397] (the “Plan”) in the jointly-administered chapter 11 bankruptcy cases 

(the “Chapter 11 Cases”) of Woodbridge Group of Companies, LLC and its affiliated debtors 

and debtors in possession (collectively, the “Debtors”) in accordance with Rule 2004-1 of the 

Local Rules of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the “Local 

Rules”) in connection with the above-captioned motion (the “Motion”) pursuant to Rule 2004 of 

the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure (the “Bankruptcy Rules”). 

2. Prior to the filing of the Motion, on March 29, 2019, counsel to the 

Liquidation Trust, John A. Morris, emailed Jeffrey Marcus, Esq., counsel to Mrs. Shapiro, to 

                                                 
1  The Remaining Debtors and the last four digits of their respective federal tax identification numbers are as follows: Woodbridge Group of 
Companies, LLC (3603) and Woodbridge Mortgage Investment Fund 1, LLC (0172).  The Remaining Debtors’ mailing address is 14140 Ventura 
Boulevard #302, Sherman Oaks, California 91423.   
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schedule a telephonic meet and confer regarding the Liquidation Trust’s document requests. 

3. On April 3, 2019, Mr. Morris and Mr. Marcus conferred telephonically 

regarding the Liquidation Trust’s document requests that were provided to Mr. Marcus prior to 

the telephone conference.  During the telephone conference, Mr. Marcus confirmed he would 

discuss the document requests with Mrs. Shapiro. 

4. Following the April 3 telephone conference, Mr. Morris contacted Mr. 

Marcus to ascertain the status of the review of the document requests with Mrs. Shapiro.  Mr. 

Marcus did not respond. 

5. Mr. Morris contacted Mr. Marcus via electronic mail again on July 31, 

August 16 (which email provided a revised set of document requests) and September 23.  Mr. 

Morris also left several voicemails with Mr. Marcus.  In the September 23 email, Mr. Morris 

provided Mr. Marcus with a draft copy of the Motion.  Mr. Marcus did not respond to any of the 

voicemail messages or e-mails from Mr. Morris. 

6. While Mr. Marcus has not responded to the Liquidation Trust’s most 

recent communications, the Liquidation Trust believes that Mr. Marcus continues to represent 

Mrs. Shapiro because he (a) told Mr. Morris in April that he represented Mrs. Shapiro, (b) signed 

the Consent to Forfeiture in his capacity as Mrs. Shapiro’s attorney on or about August 7, 2019 

(Exhibit D at 13); and (c) never informed the Liquidation Trust otherwise. 

7. In sum, counsel for the Liquidation Trust’s meet and confer process with 

Mrs. Shapiro’s counsel took place over the course several months.  Counsel for Mrs. Shapiro was 

provided with the document requests on two separate occasions as well as a copy of the Motion. 
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Despite these repeated requests, Mr. Marcus never provided any responses thereto. 

 
Dated: October 7, 2019 
 
 

By: /s/ Colin R. Robinson    
 Colin R. Robinson 
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